# Angiotensin II produces endothelial dysfunction by simultaneously activating eNOS and NAD(P)H oxidase

Zainab Al-Dhaher

Department of Physiology McGill University Montreal, Quebec, Canada

January 2008

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirement of the degree of Master of Science in Physiology.

© Zainab Al-Dhaher 2008



#### Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

#### Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-51060-5 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-51060-5

# NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

# AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



Abstract	6
Résumé	7
Acknowledgements	8
Abbreviations	9
1. Introduction	10
2. Literature Review	14
2.1. The Renin-Angiotensin system (RAS)	14
2.1.1. Angiotensin III, IV and (1-7)	16
2.1.2. Angiotensin II receptors	16
2.1.3. Angiotensin II	17
2.1.4. Angiotensin II and inflammation	19
2.1.5. Angiotensin II and oxidative stress	20
2.1.6. Angiotensin II, nitric oxide and atherogenesis	20
2.2. The endothelium and endothelial dysfunction	21
2.2.1. Endothelium-physiological	21
2.2.2. Endothelium-pathophysiological	22
2.2.3. Endothelial dysfunction and Angiotensin II	24
2.2.4. Leukocyte adhesion to endothelium	24
2.3. Reactive oxidative species	26
2.3.1. Oxidative stress	26
2.3.2. Reactive oxidative species signaling	27
2.4. NAD(P)H oxidase and superoxide production	28
2.4.1. NAD(P)H oxidase characteristics	28
2.4.2. NAD(P)H oxidase and Angiotensin II	29

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

2.5. Akt	
2.5.1. Akt structure and activation	
2.5.2. Akt stimulants, targets and cellular pathways	
2.6. Nitric oxide and nitric oxide synthase	
2.7. Peroxynitrite formation	

3. Rationale	38

4.	stive39	<b>Research Objective</b>
4.	tive3	<b>Research Objective</b>

5. Hypothesis	3	9
---------------	---	---

# 6. Materials and Methods 40 6.1. Materials 40 6.2. Cell Culture 40 6.2.1. HUVECs 40

0.2.1.110 V LCS	<b>t</b> v
6.2.2. U937 monocytes	41
6.3. Superoxide detection with lucigenin-en	hanced chemiluminescence42
6.4. Adhesion Assay	
6.4.1. Initial control conditions and inh	ibitors 43
6.4.2. Use of Akt viruses	44
6.4.3. Use of p22phox siRNA	44
6.5. Statistical analysis	

7. Results	46
7.1. Ang II increases superoxide production	
7.2. Pharmacological blocker DPI inhibits the Ang II-triggered	increase in
superoxide production	

7.3. Ang II enhances monocyte adhesion to HUVECs	47
7.4. Pharmacological blockers Cd, DPI, Wm and L-Name inhibit the Ang	g II-
triggered increase in monocyte adhesion to HUVECs	48
7.5. Dominant negative-Akt virus inhibits the Ang II-triggered increase i	n
monocyte adhesion to HUVECs and constitutively active-Akt virus	
elevates the Ang II-triggered increase in monocyte adhesion to	
HUVECs	49
7.6. p22phox siRNA inhibits the Ang II-triggered increase in monocyte	
adhesion to HUVECs	50
8. Discussion	_51
8.1. Cell cultures	
8.1.1. HUVECs	
8.1.2. U937 monocytes	
8.1.3. Serum deprivation of cells	
8.2 Experimental techniques	
8.2.1. Lucigenin-enhanced chemiluminescence	
8.2.2. Adhesion assay	
8.3 Experimental approach: inhibiting various points in the pathway	
8.3.1. Inhibition of the AT1 receptor using candesartan	55
8.3.2. Inhibition of NAD(P)H oxidase using DPI	57
8.3.3. Inhibition of NAD(P)H oxidase using p22phox siRNA	
8.3.4. Inhibition of PI3K using wortmannin	
8.3.5. Inhibition of Akt using viruses	
8.3.6. Inhibition of eNOS using L-Name	
8.4. Significance	
9. Final conclusions and summary	63

# Figures and Legends

Figure 1. Proposed Ang II signaling pathway leading to endothelial cell activation	66
Figure 2. Superoxide production measured using lucigenin-enhanced chemiluminescence: control vs. Angiotensin II-stimulated HUVECs	68
Figure 3. Superoxide production measured using lucigenin-enhanced chemiluminescence: effect of L-Name and DPI on Angiotensin I stimulated HUVECs	I-
Figure 4. Monocyte adhesion to HUVECs: control conditions	
Figure 5. Monocyte adhesion to HUVECs: effect of candesartan, DPI wortmannin and L-Name	74
Figure 6. Monocyte adhesion to HUVECs: effect of Akt viruses	76
Figure 7. Monocyte adhesion to HUVECs: effect of p22phox siRNA	78
Appendices	

B. Claims to original research 8	0
Reference List 8	1

#### Abstract

Blockade of the renin-angiotensin system lowers the rate of cardiovascular events in patients at risk for vascular disease and also improves endothelial function but the mechanism remains unclear. HUVECs were stimulated with Ang II (100 nM). Ang II produced a 2-fold increase in O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> production, which was measured by lucigenin-enhanced chemiluminescence. This increase was blocked by NAD(P)H oxidase inhibitor DPI, but not by eNOS inhibitor L-NAME. Ang II increased monocyte adhesion to ECs by 4.5-fold, and this increase was blocked by candesartan (AT1 receptor antagonist), DPI, L-NAME, wortmannin (PI3K inhibitor), dominant negative-AKT, and p22phox siRNA. Dominant active-AKT increased adhesion by 1.5-fold. Our findings indicate that the simultaneous activation by Ang II of eNOS and NAD(P)H oxidase leads to endothelial activation. This process can partially explain the therapeutic benefits of reducing the action of Ang II.

#### Résumé

Le blocage du système Rénin-Angiotensine abaisse le niveau d'évènements cardiovasculaires chez les patients à risque pour les maladies vasculaires et améliore aussi la fonction endothéliale, mais ce mécanisme demeure non élucidé. Les cellules endothéliales (HUVECs) sont stimulées avec Ang II (100 nM). Ang II produit une augmentation double en production d'O<sub>2</sub>, qui est mesuré par la chemiluminescence induite par la lucigenine. Cette augmentation est bloquée par l'inhibiteur de la NAD(P)H oxydase DPI, mais pas par l'inhibiteur de eNOS, le L-NAME. Ang II augmente l'adhésion aux monocytes des CEs de 4.5 fois, et cette augmentation est bloquée par le candesartan (le récepteur antagoniste de AT1), le DPI, le L-NAME, la wortmannin (l'inhibiteur de la PI3K), le dominant négatif-AKT, et le p22phox si ARN. Le dominant actif-AKT augmente l'adhésion de 1.5 fois. Nos résultats indiquent que l'activation simultanée par Ang II de eNOS et la NAD(P)H oxydase mène à une activation endothéliale. Ce processus peut expliquer partiellement les bénéfices thérapeutiques de la réduction de l'action de Ang II.

#### Acknowledgements

First and foremost I would like to express my deep gratitude to Dr. Magder for his guidance, effort and kind support. Throughout the last two years he has taught me a great deal about the field of physiology and molecular cell signaling. He has been a great mentor and an excellent role model who always took the time and patience to advise me and provide me with the direction I needed. He has helped me improve my research techniques, problem solving and critical thinking skills.

I truly appreciate Dr. Hussein and Dr. Kristof for their generosity with lab resources and with their time. They assisted me immensely when I encountered technical difficulties.

I would also like to thank the students that I worked along side in the lab: Imad Al Ghouleh, Maria Florian, Nelly A Abdel-Malak, and Mahroo Mofarrahi. Each has been a tremendous help to me in my day-to-day challenges. By collaborating with them I have improved my lab techniques and ability to trouble-shoot. They have all helped create a pleasant environment and have been an absolute pleasure to work with.

I sincerely appreciate Sharon Harel, Jeanna Nuclea, Luigi Franchi and Dominique Mayaki's help in western blots, cell culturing and various other technical issues.

I thank Christine Mutter, Angel Beaulieu, Christine Pamplin and members of McGill University's Physiology Department for their helpful and efficient administrative assistance. I am grateful for their effort and kindness.

Finally, I would like to thank my loving family for their continual moral support and encouragement.

#### Abbreviations

Ang II: angiotensin II

**RAS:** renin-angiotensin system

ARB: angiotensin II receptor blocker

ACEi: angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor

AKT/PKB: serine/threonine kinase-Akt/ protein kinase-B

HUVEC: human umbilical vein endothelial cell

EC: endothelial cell

**SMC:** smooth muscle cell

eNOS: endothelial nitric oxide synthase

NO: nitric oxide

 $O_2$ : superoxide

**ROS:** reactive oxidative species

NAD(P)H: nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (phosphate)-oxidase

PI3K: phosphoinositide-3 kinase

**DPI:** diphenyleneneiodonium chloride

**L-Name:**  $N_{\omega}$ -Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride

Wm: wortmannin

Cd: candesartan

**TNF-α:** tumor necrosis factor-α

#### 1. Introduction

Cardiovascular diseases encompass malfunctions of the system that comprises the heart and the blood vessels of the entire body including the brain. Cardiovascular disease accounts for the death of more Canadians than any other disease. In 2002 cardiovascular disease accounted for 74,626 Canadian deaths, specifically, 32% of all male deaths and 34% of all female deaths (1). When broken down, 54% of all cardiovascular deaths are due to coronary artery disease; 21% to stroke; 16% to other forms of heart diseases and the remaining 9% to vascular problems such as high blood pressure and hardening of the arteries. Furthermore, cardiovascular diseases cost the Canadian economy over \$18 billion a year and cause a major burden on the health care system (2).

Environmental and genetic risk factors of cardiovascular diseases have been identified with the help of epidemiological studies conducted over the past 50 years. The interaction between risk factors has also been extensively studied. Atherosclerosis is a pathological condition that is the cause of various vascular events such as stroke, peripheral arterial disease, coronary artery disease (CAD), and most of the cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in the current Western world. Epidemiological studies indicate that the prevalence of atherosclerosis is increasing world-wide due to the adoption of Western life-style and is likely to reach epidemic proportions in the coming decades (3). Defining the cellular and molecular mechanisms of diseases such as atherosclerosis has proven to be a bigger challenge due to the complex and involved nature of such pathologies (4).

One of the components involved in cardiovascular diseases such as atherosclerosis is the endothelium, for it is the barrier between blood and vascular tissue. Endothelial dysfunction is an initial event in atherosclerosis and contributes to diseased states such as hypertension, hyperlipidemia and diabetes (5). Endothelial dysfunction is characterized by altered anticoagulant and antiinflammatory properties, and impaired modulation of vascular growth. Also, there is a lack of physiological release of nitric oxide (NO), which hinders maintenance of the vessel wall. Amongst the regulators of the vascular endothelium function is angiotensin II (Ang II), a component of the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) (6). The RAS has long been identified as an important regulator of blood pressure (renal salt and water regulation) and cardiovascular hemodynamics.

The main effector of the RAS, Ang II, has been linked to vascular cell growth, differentiation, gene expression. Ang II raises blood pressure directly via vascular receptors and indirectly via facilitation of the vasoconstrictor actions of the sympathetic nervous system. Ang II acts through two receptors: AT1R and AT2R, but AT1R is dominant (7). Early research on Ang II concerned its role in the development of hypertension. More recent investigation of Ang II has focused on its role in atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, vascular and myocardial remodeling and congestive heart failure (8). Ang II has major effects on cardiovascular structure, and reducing its effects has potential clinical benefits. Angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs, i.e. candesartan, losartan, valsartan) or angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEi's i.e. quinapril, captopril, ramipril, perindopril) have been commonly prescribed to patients for decades to reduce excessive vasoconstriction and also have protective effects on the endothelium by large scale clinical trials (9), (10), (11).

Given that in the field of Ang II signaling, pathways have been studied more in vascular smooth muscle cells than in endothelial cells, and that the mechanism behind the endothelial protective effect resulting from Ang II inhibition remains unclear, we chose to investigate Ang II signaling in ECs. Our research undertaking focused on the oxidative signaling mechanisms of Ang II. More specifically, our studies focused on explaining the paradox of why Ang II-induced Akt activation and NO production have a harmful rather than a beneficial effect on the endothelium, as NO is known to improve endothelial function.

Ang II promotes the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) mainly by three systems: xanthine oxidase, nitric oxide synthase (NOS) and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (phosphate)-oxidase (NAD(P)H oxidase); the later system is the one of particular interest. ROS have a physiological role in the vasculature such as promoting growth in the case of SMCs; however, when they are present in excess, they contribute to cardiovascular pathologies (8).

Oxidative stress has been linked to endothelial dysfunction, inflammation and monocyte infiltration. Redox sensitive genes play a role in the expression of proinflammatory adhesion molecules such as vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), which are involved in the initiation and progression of atherosclerosis (12). NAD(P)H oxidases have been shown to be the predominant source of ROS production in the vasculature, especially in pathological conditions (13). Oxidative stress has also been linked to endothelial dysfunction and increasing pro-inflammatory gene expression (14). In ECs, superoxide production increases adhesion molecule expression which results in monocyte infiltration. Many functions of the endothelium are altered by the presence of excessive ROS. The most well known is endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation, which is impaired by a loss of NO bioactivity in the vessel wall (15).

In particular, oxygen radical production has been shown to be an important component of Ang II-mediated cardiovascular disease (16). Thus, inhibiting Ang II-induced ROS production in ECs could be of therapeutic value. Interestingly, groups such as Harrison *et al.* are working on possibilities of developing drugs that directly inhibit Nox (NAD(P)H oxidases) activation and in turn inhibit oxidative stress (17). The NAD(P)H oxidase enzyme complex is a major source of  $O_2^-$  and it is found in both ECs and SMCs. Furthermore, Ang II has been shown to stimulate NAD(P)H oxidase activation in the vascular endothelium and

VSMCs (18), (16), (19). H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> produced by NAD(P)H oxidase activates a number of downstream targets such as c-src, p38 MAPK, JNK and Akt (15).

Akt is a serine/threonine kinase that regulates cell survival and protein synthesis and is key to several signaling cascades including those of VEGF, insulin and estrogen. It is activated by a number of growth factors and cytokines in a PI3K– dependent manner. In SMCs, Ang II-induced  $O_2^-$ , and consequently  $H_2O_2$ production, leads to the phosphorylation and activation of Akt. This Akt activation is inhibited by diphenyleneneiodonium chloride (DPI) suggesting a role for NAD(P)H oxidase (19). This pathway contributes to vascular hypertrophy and is thus pro-atherogenic. In response to shear stress, one of Akt's targets is eNOS: Akt has been shown to phosphorylate and activate eNOS (at residue Ser-1177) which then leads to NO production (20), (21).

NO and eNOS are of interest in vascular signaling as they play important roles in maintaining normal status of the vessel wall. NO alone leads to improved endothelial function, beneficial anti-inflammatory and thus anti-atherosclerotic response. Growing evidence indicates that unlike smooth muscle cells, EC's contain eNOS as well as NAD(P)H oxidase; thus, there is the potential for stimulants such as Ang II (as proposed by our studies) to trigger the simultaneous production of superoxide anion,  $O_2^-$  (from NAD(P)H oxidase) and NO (from eNOS). Together,  $O_2^-$  and NO can produce the potent oxidant peroxynitrite, eliminating NO's beneficial anti-inflammatory effects and resulting in endothelial activation and dysfunction.

#### 2. Literature Review

#### 2.1. The Renin-Angiotensin system (RAS)

The RAS, a system composed of enzymes and effector proteins, functions as a regulator of blood pressure, water, salt homeostasis and can affect the CNS, kidneys, heart and vasculature. Renin, an aspartyl protease, is released from the juxtaglomerular cells of the kidney, under conditions of salt/volume loss or by sympathetic activation. Once released, it cleaves angiotensinogen, a liver-derived precursor molecule to yield the inactive decapeptide Ang I. Angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE), released from the pulmonary system, converts Ang I by cleavage to the active octapeptide hormone Ang II (22). ACE, by acting as kininase II, also affects the kallikrein-kinin systems by inactivating kinins, including bradykinin. A recently identified carboxypeptidase, ACE2, cleaves one amino acid from either Ang I or Ang II, decreasing Ang II levels and increasing the metabolite Ang 1–7. Thus, the balance between ACE and ACE2 is a factor controlling Ang II levels (22).

The ACE pathway is not the only mechanism for generating Ang II, although it is the primary Ang II generating enzyme. Non-ACE pathways including cathepsin G, chymase, tonin, and tissue plasminogen activator (t-PA) have been reported (23) and play important functional roles in human blood vessels (24). In the heart, the majority of Ang I is converted by chymase. Bader M. *et al.* showed that tissues such as the brain, kidneys, adrenals, heart and vasculature contain RAS components and are thus capable of producing Ang II locally (25). Furthermore, local Ang II is more closely related to the vascular inflammatory response (26).

Ang II, whether produced by the ACE or the non-ACE mechanisms, raises blood pressure directly via vascular receptors and indirectly via facilitation of the vasoconstrictor actions of the sympathetic nervous system. Aldosterone secretion or renal tubule site regulation regulates the osmo- and volume- effects of Ang II, such as, water and salt retention. Interestingly, central mechanisms have been identified as inducing natriuretic effects (27).

The RAS is of particular clinical interest as it is associated with the pathophysiology of hypertension, alterations in the vasculature, kidney and heart, including nephrosclerosis and post-infarction remodeling. Extensive clinical evidence shows that reducing RAS activity in turn reduces cardiovascular events in patients at risk for vascular disease (28), (29). Examining the individual molecules of the RAS and their related pathways helped initiate a new method of treating cardiovascular ailments. For example, inhibiting Ang II via ACEi's and ARB's has been shown to effectively treat hypertension, congestive heart failure, and coronary artery disease (27). In a large scale clinical study, Trial on Reversing Endothelial Dysfunction (TREND), treating patients with coronary artery disease using the ACEi quinapril significantly improved their vasodilatory response to acetylcholine in their coronary arteries (9). The findings from this trial suggest that Ang II strongly affects the endothelium *in vivo* and that inhibiting Ang II improves cardiovascular health partly by improving the state of the endothelium (9).

Similarly, the large scale randomized Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation (HOPE) study, evaluated the effects of the ACEi ramipril on cardiovascular events in patients with risk factors such as atherosclerosis, diabetes, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, vascular disease, or congestive heart failure (11). Investigators observed improvements among all subgroups treated with ramipril measured by a reduction in the occurrence of myocardial infarction (20%), stroke (32%), cardiac arrest (37%), and cardiovascular death (16%) (11). Interestingly, patients treated with ramipril had a reduced incidence of new onset type II diabetes (34%) (11).

#### 2.1.1. Angiotensin III, IV and (1-7)

The other angiotensin metabolites, Ang III (2-8), Ang IV (3-8) and the Ang (1-7) fragment are generated from Ang I and II. Aminopeptidase A cleaves Ang II to yield Ang III. Ang IV is formed when aminopeptidase N cleaves Ang III (30). Ang III and IV have been shown to increase Ang II-induced inflammation in the vasculature; however their effect is thought to be minor compared to Ang II's (31). Ang III is an active metabolite which acts through AT1 and AT2 receptors, and causes similar effects to Ang II, such as increasing blood pressure, releasing vasopressin and water consumption (27). The physiological role of Ang IV and its receptor AT4 remain elusive. The heptapeptide Ang (1-7) is also an active RAS product with its own specific receptor, recently identified in mouse kidney cells (32). It has the ability to stimulate the release of vasopressin, prostaglandins and NO; however, it does not affect the thirst response nor does it change aldosterone levels. Ang (1-7) has emerged as an angiotensin of interest as it has been shown to have cardiovascular and baroreflex actions that oppose those of Ang II in that it has vasodilator properties (33).

#### 2.1.2. Angiotensin II receptors

It is likely that reducing Ang II results in vasculo-protective effects that benefit the endothelium. Angiotensin II acts via two types of cell surface receptors: Ang II type 1 (AT1) and Ang II type 2 (AT2) receptors. Both AT1 and AT2 are polypeptides that contain approximately 360 amino acids. However, they are functionally distinct with a sequence homology of only 30% (29). Most of the studies that have been conducted pertain to the AT1 receptor. In the human vascular system, the most predominantly expressed receptor is the AT1 in vascular smooth muscle cells. AT1 receptors are also expressed in heart, lung, brain, liver, kidney tissue and adrenal glands (7). Both forms of Ang II receptors are present in ECs in culture (34). The large majority of cardiovascular Ang IItriggered effects are mediated through AT1 receptors (35). The AT1 receptor is a seven transmembrane G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR). Ang II binds the AT1 receptor in a mechanism that is characteristic of cell surface hormone receptors due to the following characteristics: they have a high structural specificity, they have a limited binding capacity, they display high affinity towards Ang II ( $10^{-10}$  M), they induce signal transduction within the cell, and they are up or down-regulated via biosynthesis and recycling. These characteristics made AT1 receptors strong candidates for drug development (35).

The AT2 receptors are highly expressed during the fetal stages of life. In adult tissue, AT2 receptors are expressed in brain, adrenals and in relatively small amounts in the cardiovascular system (36). The AT2 receptor, like the AT1 receptor is a seven transmembrane GPCR receptor; however, it belongs to a unique class of receptors that differs from "classical" G protein-coupled receptors.

#### 2.1.3. Angiotensin II

Ang II was discovered as a circulating hormone with a pivotal role in regulating blood pressure and electrolyte homeostasis. It has since been identified as a vasopressor and endothelium regulator. Vasoconstriction and the release of aldosterone occur within minutes of Ang II stimulation. Ang II is well studied in vascular smooth muscle; however, less is known about its signaling in endothelial cells (ECs). Ang II's well known effects include supporting/increasing arterial blood pressure, maintaining glomerular filtration, increasing the heart's contractility and ventricular hypertrophy (37).

Early Ang II research pertained to its role in the regulation of blood pressure and body fluid homeostasis. Over the years, numerous studies emerged suggesting a link between RAS over activity and human atherosclerosis (38). Consequently, later studies on Ang II focused on its role in atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, SMC proliferation, vascular and myocardial remodeling and congestive heart failure (8). Ang II's effects on atherosclerotic vascular wall changes following vascular injury also became of particular interest (39). Ang II mediates vascular wall constriction by acting directly on smooth muscle cells via AT1 receptors, and may modulate its effect by acting on the endothelium. These receptors are also present in ECs; however, their function is poorly understood. When Ang II binds the AT1 receptor, the subunits of a guanine-nucleotide-binding protein ( $G_{q/11}$ ) dissociate. This in turn activates phospholipase C, which generates diacylglycerol and inositol triphosphate (40). Inositol triphosphate mediates the release of intracellular calcium stores. Cellular calcium levels also rise due to Ang II-induced calcium entry through cell membrane channels (41). Calcium and diacylglycerol activation signal through kinases such as PKC and calcium-calmodulin kinases which alter downstream proteins that regulate cell functions (42).

Ang II activates phospholipase A2 and C in ECs (43). Once phospholipase A2 is activated, prostaglandin follows, since metabolizing arachadonic acid yields leukotrienes or prostaglandins. The increase in calcium triggered by phospholipase C can in turn stimulate NOS. Since prostaglandins and NO act as vasodilators, Ang II's effect on ECs may modulate Ang II-induced smooth muscle constriction. Ang II signals through the AT1 receptor to activate eNOS, and releases NO from the endothelium (43). This NO production may affect the direct Ang II-triggered vasoconstriction in SMCs as it is observed to activate soluble guanylate cyclase and cGMP production in SMCs. The mechanism of NO production in this case involves inositol phosphate production and an increase in intracellular calcium. However, the production of peroxynitrite has the potential to cancel out the beneficial effects of NO, as it contributes to pathological processes in the vascular wall (43). Studies such as one by Boulanger CM *et al.* illustrate that the NO released by the endothelium decreases Ang II-induced vasoconstriction (34).

Ang II has also been shown to raise levels of endothelin-1, a vasoactive peptide. On one hand, endothelin-1 (ET-1) induces endothelium-dependent vasodilation via ET-B receptor and NO release, but on the other hand, it mediates vasoconstriction when acting on smooth muscle cells (34). The difference in the response of the vascular wall to Ang II likely depends on the relative amounts of relaxing factors released, endothelin-1 secretion or the resulting action of endothelin-1 (44).

Additionally, Ang II contributes to growth and hypertrophy of smooth muscle cells while inhibiting endothelial cell proliferation. The predominance of different forms of Ang II receptors plays a role in the final action of Ang II: AT1 receptors are implicated in growth whereas AT2 receptors inhibit vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation (34).

#### 2.1.4. Angiotensin II and inflammation

Atherosclerosis is a chronic disease that acts on the arterial wall and involves both innate and adaptive immunoinflammatory mechanisms. Inflammation plays a key role at all stages of atherosclerosis. Early on, it is implicated in the formation of fatty streaks, when the endothelium is activated and expresses chemokines and adhesion molecules leading to monocyte/lymphocyte recruitment and infiltration into the subendothelium (45). Inflammation also acts at the onset of adverse clinical vascular events when activated cells within the plaque secrete matrix proteases that degrade extracellular matrix proteins and weaken the fibrous cap, leading to rupture and thrombus formation (45).

Inflammation is a process that occurs in blood vessels and results in the accumulation of fluid and leukocytes. Acute inflammation is the response to all forms of injury, whereas prolonged inflammation is a response to persistent stimuli such as repeated infection or immunological responses (46). Ang II plays a role in all three major stages of the inflammatory response: 1) increase in vascular permeability, 2) leukocyte infiltration, and 3) tissue remodeling (46).

Ang II increases the permeability of the vasculature by causing pressure-mediated mechanical injury to the endothelium. Eicosanoids and vascular permeability factor have been identified as mediators of increased vascular permeability. Increased tyrosine phosphorylation of proteins at the endothelial cell junctions may also contribute to the increase in vascular permeability (47). Ang II increases protein tyrosine phosphorylation in smooth muscle cells, glomerular mesangial cells, and endothelial cells. Tyrosine phosphorylation is of considerable importance in Ang II signaling and Ang II's action on these cells (34). Furthermore, increased permeability appears to occur by Ang II signaling through the AT1 receptors, and stimulating the AT2 receptors triggers the opposite effect (48).

#### 2.1.5. Angiotensin II and oxidative stress

Stimulation of the AT1 receptor is linked to activating NAD(P)H oxidase and thus producing ROS in vascular cells (16). ECs contain all of the system's components including gp91phox, p47phox, p67phox, p22phox and the small GTPase rac1 (49). Although it is not quite clear how the various subunits interact and how they produce superoxide, it has been established that rac1's translocation to the cellular membrane is necessary for NAD(P)H oxidase activation. Furthermore, Ang II induces this translocation in vascular smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts (50).

#### 2.1.6. Angiotensin II, nitric oxide and atherogenesis

By signaling through the AT1 receptor Ang II promotes the atherosclerotic process at virtually all stages of the disease (8). As a result of increased Ang II-induced superoxide production, NO inactivation is observed. The two radicals superoxide and NO react with each other to form peroxynitrite at a rate of  $6.7 \times 10^9$  mol/L/s. Under physiological conditions superoxide dismutases and other superoxide scavengers work to minimize peroxynitrite formation. However, when superoxide levels are increased, as in the case of Ang II stimulation, a greater amount of peroxynitrite is formed, more NO is lost and endothelial dysfunction, an early step in atherosclerosis, occurs (51). The loss of NO is detrimental since

NO acts as a vasodilator which triggers beneficial anti-inflammatory and thus anti-atherosclerotic effects. Furthermore NO inhibits the attraction and adhesion of monocytes and inflammatory molecules such as MCP-1 and VCAM-1 to the endothelium (51). Ang II is also involved in the fatty streak formation phase of atherosclerosis as well as stimulating growth and migration of vascular smooth muscle cells. Ang II contributes to plaque rupture by enhancing lipid deposition, interleukin-6 production and MMP activity (51).

#### 2.2. The endothelium and endothelial dysfunction

#### 2.2.1. Endothelium-physiological

The vascular endothelium, composed of a cell layer lining the cardiovascular system separates blood from tissue and plays an important role in maintaining normal vascular homeostasis. It helps maintain the delicate balance between vasodilation and vasoconstriction as well as regulating proliferation and migration of smooth muscle cells, platelet adhesion, thrombogenesis and fibrinolysis (6).

Endothelial cells are responsive to substances released by neurons, hormones, cytokines, drugs, chemical and physical stimuli (such as pH). Endothelial cells, in response to their various stimuli have the ability to regulate angiogenesis, inflammation, hemostasis, vascular tone and permeability by synthesizing and releasing multiple factors (6). Vasoactive factors released by endothelial cells include relaxing factors: adenosine, prostacyclin (PGI2), nitric oxide (NO), hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EETs), Cnatriuretic peptide (CNP) as well as contracting factors: thromboxane A2, isoprostanes, 20-hydoxyeicosatetraenoic acid, superoxide anion (O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>), H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, endothelin-1, angiotensin II, and uridine adenosine tetraphosphate (6).

Aggregating platelets, amongst other factors, stimulate the release of endothelialderived relaxing factor production (52). Endothelial cells affect vascular smooth muscle by forming and releasing a hyperpolarizing factor which regulates the opening of its potassium-channels (52). Endothelial cells are also capable of using myoendothelial gap junctions to communicate directly with smooth muscle cells to spread electrotonic tone, small ions and molecules such as calcium (6).

#### 2.2.2. Endothelium-pathophysiological

The endothelium also participates in the pathogenesis of vascular diseases such as atherosclerosis. Endothelial dysfunction is identified as one of the earliest events in atherosclerosis and plays a role in the progression and clinical complications of atherosclerotic vascular disease (53). Since as early as 1856, Virchow made the link between the endothelium and the atherosclerotic process. As a result of the investigative work of Furchgott and Zawadski in the 1980's, a great deal of attention has been paid to examining the mechanisms underlying endothelium's role in maintaining vessel wall homeostasis and its pathophysiological role (54). From their experiments, they found that acetylcholine requires endothelial cells in order to relax underlying vascular smooth muscle tissue (54). On the other hand, blood vessels not fully lined with an endothelium undergo vasoconstriction in response to acetylcholine. It was later discovered that endothelium-derived prostacyclin and nitric-oxide were responsible for physiological endothelial vasodilation (54). Thereafter investigators such as Ross R. further studied these endothelial mechanisms (55), (56).

The concept of endothelial dysfunction refers to the altered functional properties of the vascular lining preceding atherosclerosis. Since the emergence of this concept, endothelial dysfunction has been associated with physiological and pathophysiological processes including aging, type I and II diabetes, inflammation, sepsis and rheumatoid arthritis (54). Moreover, because the endothelium has protective functions, endothelial damage affects its protective role and alters its response to serotonin of G-protein coupled receptors (52).

High cholesterol levels and age-related physiological changes have been shown to contribute to increased consequences of impaired endothelial function (52). A

reduction in endothelial integrity results in vascular remodeling, thrombus formation, impaired tissue perfusion and vasoconstriction (5). Cholesterolengorged macrophages, or 'foam cells' are known to accumulate in subendothelial regions and form early atherosclerotic lesions. These lesions are seen to change locations within the vasculature depending on the age of the patients; in the aorta during the first decade of life, in the coronary arteries during the second decade, and then in cerebral arteries during the third and fourth decades (4). Studies based on animal models illustrate that following the feeding of a high-fat, high-cholesterol diet the first observable change in the artery wall is the accumulation of lipoprotein particles and their aggregates in the intima. Days or weeks later, monocytes are seen to adhere to the endothelium (4). After adhesion, they migrate across the endothelium into the intima where they proliferate, differentiate into macrophages and engulf lipoproteins to form foam cells. The remainder of the lesion-forming process involves smooth muscle cells and fibrous plaques and eventually results in the reduction in lumen diameter, cell proliferation, extracellular matrix production and the accumulation of extracellular lipid (4). Tissue culture studies on the pathological changes that take place during atherogenesis have shown that the endothelium plays a central role in mediating inflammation and that the accumulation of oxidized LDL in the intima contributes to monocyte recruitment and foam-cell formation (4). LDL is taken up efficiently by macrophages if it is in an oxidized form, and this modification is thought to involve ROS produced by ECs, macrophages and enzymes such as myeloperoxidase (4).

The endothelium, which contains tight junctional complexes, acts as a selectively permeable barrier between blood and tissues. It plays multiple roles in regulating processes such as thrombosis, inflammation, vascular tone, vascular remodeling and smooth muscle cell migration and proliferation. Endothelial cell morphology is affected by fluid sheer stress (4). Cells in tubular arterial areas, where blood flow is uniform and laminar, have an ellipsoid shape and are aligned with the flow direction. Contrastingly, cells in branched regions, where blood flow is disturbed, have a polygonal shape, follow no particular direction and are more permeable to macromolecules such as LDL; thus, they are more susceptible to lesion formation. Moreover, minimally oxidized LDL has been shown to stimulate the endothelium to produce numerous pro-inflammatory molecules which in turn trigger the accumulation of monocytes and lymphocytes seen in atherosclerosis (4). Oxidized LDL also has the ability to inhibit NO production. NO, which will be discussed in the later sections, is a known mediator that exhibits anti-atherosclerotic properties including vasorelaxation. Other factors such as homocysteine and hormones modulate inflammation. For example, diabetes partly triggers inflammation by forming glycation end-products that interact with endothelial receptors (4).

#### 2.2.3. Endothelial dysfunction and Angiotensin II

Numerous studies have shown that hypercholesterolemia, specifically the increased LDL plasma levels affects the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis in human and animal subjects. This effect has been hypothesized to be related to the marked increase in AT1 receptors that results from hypercholesterolemia (57). These findings may explain why lipid lowering may have antihypertensive effects. In hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis, components of the RAS such as ACE are up regulated. Additionally, Ang II is present in concentrated amounts in atherosclerotic plaques. Due to the high concentrations of ACE in ECs' plasma membrane, ECs are able to synthesize Ang II. In addition to their role in the formation of Ang II, circulating Ang II can reach the endothelium and potentially influence cellular functions (39). Furthermore, inhibiting the AT1 receptor using ARB's or ACEi's alleviates endothelial dysfunction (58).

#### 2.2.4. Leukocyte adhesion to the endothelium

The formation of atherosclerotic lesions is followed by monocyte recruitment and transendothelial migration, VSMC proliferation, amongst other events. ACE inhibitor treatment *in vivo* decreases endothelial dysfunction and the subendothelial infiltration of mononuclear cells in the aorta and carotid artery of hypertensive rats (59). Furthermore, Ang II increases monocyte adhesion to ECs

(60). The increase in monocyte adhesion triggered by Ang II occurs through a mechanism that remains unclear.

Intracellular Adhesion Molecule-1 (ICAM-1) plays a role in modulating stable polymorphonuclear leukocyte (PMN) adhesion to the vascular endothelium, and its upregulation is involved in atherogenesis (61). ICAM-1 upregulation occurs in ECs covering human atheromas and correlated with plaque intimal T-lymphocyte density (62). ICAM-1 mediates firm adhesion of PMN to the endothelium by acting as a counter-receptor for leukocyte  $\beta_2$ -integrins, CD11a/CD18 and CD11b/CD18. Under normal conditions, the endothelium expresses ICAM-1; however, its expression increases dramatically when stimulated by inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , a pro-inflammatory cytokine released during sepsis, through activation of nuclear transcription factor- $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B) (63) and Ang II (62). In ECs, NF- $\kappa$ B is the key regulator of ICAM-1 gene expression following stimulation with TNF- $\alpha$  (64) and Ang II (65).

Several studies, such as the one conducted by Pastore *et. al* showed that Ang II regulated ICAM-1 expression in the living endothelium (62). Their study established a link between Ang II and vascular damage in humans. Ang II upregulated ICAM-1 gene expression and stimulates soluble ICAM-1 release by HUVECs. In addition, increased ICAM-1 expression and secretion by Ang II was blocked by an AT1 receptor but not an AT2 receptor antagonist (62). They also confirmed an increase in leukocyte count following Ang II treatment. Ang II also increased plasma soluble ICAM-1 levels in healthy human volunteers and essential hypertensive patients. Four-week treatment with losartan but not atenolol or placebo reduced baseline and Ang II–stimulated plasma ICAM-1 concentrations (62).

Although a clear mechanism involving Ang II has not yet been found, PKC- $\zeta$ , the a PKC isozyme present in ECs, appears to play a critical role in regulating TNF- $\alpha$ -induced oxidant generation and in activating NF-  $\kappa$ B and ICAM-1 transcription in ECs (66). Studies conducted by the same group of investigators showed that when activated, TNF- $\alpha$  induces early-onset endothelial adhesivity towards polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMN) by PKC- $\zeta$ -dependent phosphorylation of ICAM-1 that precedes the de novo ICAM-1 synthesis (67). Furthermore, oxidant signaling by neutrophil NAD(P)H oxidase is an important determinant in activating TNF- $\alpha$  in this particular pathway in ECs (68).

#### 2.3. Reactive oxidative species

Several reactive oxygen species such as superoxide ( $O_2$ ), hydroxyl radical (HO'), hypochlorous acid (HOCl), lipid radicals, and hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) are found within the cell under physiological conditions as a result of oxygen reduction by various enzyme systems such as NAD(P)H oxidase, xanthine oxidase, NOSs, lipoxygenase, cyclooxygenase, cytochrome P450's, peroxidases, and mitochondrial respiratory electron-transport chain enzymes (69). Superoxide, is produced when oxygen is reduced by one electron. Hydrogen peroxide is the result of two electron donations to oxygen. Superoxide is a common progenitor of other ROSs, for example,  $O_2^-$  can be converted to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> spontaneously or through the action of superoxide dismutase.  $O_2^-$ , H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, and their reaction products affect vascular cell function. ROS are important for maintaining normal cell functioning, such as growth in the case of vascular smooth muscle cells (69).

#### 2.3.1. Oxidative stress

Maintaining a specific level of intracellular ROS is crucial for ensuring that the pathological state of oxidant stress does not occur. Oxidant stress results following excessive production of ROS or malfunctions in the antioxidant defense systems and has been linked to cardiovascular conditions such as atherosclerosis, cardiac hypertrophy, hypercholesterolemia, diabetes and hypertension (13), (70). At the cellular level, oxidant stress alters DNA, lipid oxidation, proteins, tyrosine kinases and phosphatases, and activates redox sensitive genes. In particular, redox sensitive genes play a role in the expression of pro-inflammatory adhesion molecules such as vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), intercellular

adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), which are involved in the initiation and progression of atherosclerosis (12). NAD(P)H oxidases have been shown to be the predominant source of ROS production in the vasculature, especially in pathological conditions (13). Oxidative stress has also been linked to endothelial dysfunction and increasing pro-inflammatory gene expression (14).

#### 2.3.2. Reactive oxidative species signaling

Production of  $O_2^-$  in the vessel wall has been shown to inactivate NO, leading to the production of peroxynitrite and impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation (71). Production of  $O_2^-$  also oxidizes LDL and activates matrix metalloproteinases, leading to vascular remodeling (71). In ECs, superoxide production increases adhesion molecule expression which results in monocyte infiltration (72). This increase in adhesion is linked to EC redox sensitive regulatory mechanisms involving VCAM-1 gene transcription and expression (73). Furthermore, ROS have the ability to alter enzyme function, affect cell growth/migration (increase VSMC proliferation) and ultimately affect vascular, myocardial and extra-cellular matrix remodeling (8). ROS such as  $H_2O_2$  are signaling intermediates in many pathophysiological responses.

ROS can trigger signaling events both within the cell and in adjacent cells. Most ROS such as superoxide and peroxynitrite have short half lives and do not migrate between cells. However, superoxide has been shown to have a paracrine effect by inactivating NO produced by neighbouring cells (17). More stable ROS such as  $H_2O_2$  are able to diffuse between cells. Recent evidence suggests that endothelium-derived  $H_2O_2$  can cause vascular smooth muscle cell vasodilation (74). The effect of ROS varies between cell types; in ECs, it stimulates angiogenesis whereas in VSMCs it triggers hypertrophy (17).

ROS have emerged as playing an important role in signaling; some of the ROS sensitive signaling molecules include p38MAPK (dependent on  $H_2O_2$ ), AKT, Src,

EGFR, and transcription factors such as NF-kB, AP-1 and Nrf2 (37). The presence of ROS causes vessel inflammation by release of cytokines and leukocyte adhesion molecules that result in the increased recruitment of monocytes to the area of endothelial damage (73). Amongst its many effects, ROS formation inactivates NO in vascular cells (ECs and VSMCs) (75). This consumption of NO can occur through reactions involving superoxide, lipid peroxy radicals and alkoxy radicals, and peroxidase-based reactions (17). NO reduction is of clinical importance, as it is known to inhibit vascular disease development. NO derived from vascular ECs functions as an important regulator of vascular tone and thrombus formation. Its loss is associated with the pathology of atherosclerosis, hypertension, angina, congestive heart failure and diabetic vascular disease (13), (76). Reactive molecular species such as  $O_2^-$  can reduce NO's signaling abilities by reacting with it to form the damaging product peroxynitrite (77).

Interactions between Ang II signaling, NAD(P)H oxidase activation and ROS production lead to changes in structural and functional characteristics of the vasculature and are critical in vascular pathology (37).

#### 2.4. NAD(P)H oxidase and superoxide production

#### 2.4.1. NAD(P)H oxidase characteristics

NAD(P)H oxidases were first characterized in neutrophils where two membrane components, p22phox and gp91phox, comprise the cytochrome b558. Other important components include the cytoplasmic subunits p47phox, p40phox, p67phox and the small GTP-binding protein rac1. Upon activation, the cytoplasmic subunits translocate to cytochrome b558 at the membrane, resulting in oxidase activation, and an oxidative burst (69). Crystal structure analysis shows that the phosphorylation of p47phox, which disturbs an auto-inhibitory interaction between p47phox and p22phox, is an important initiating event in oxidase activation (78). Serine phosphorylation of p47phox, its translocation and binding

to the p22phox subunit is part of the mechanism involved in Ang II activation of endothelial NAD(P)H oxidase.

Although neutrophil and vascular (in ECs and SMCs) NAD(P)H oxidases share similar characteristics, such as being equally inhibited by DPI and being stimulated by agonists and arachidonic acid (71), they differ in several important aspects. For instance, neutrophil oxidase release superoxide in bursts, whereas vascular NAD(P)H oxidases release it in lower levels at a continuous rate. The oxidases in non-phagocytic vascular cells are constitutively active at a low level but can be acutely stimulated by agonists such as Ang II and cytokines (79). Furthermore, the superoxide production from phagocytic NAD(P)H oxidases is approximately triple that of vascular cells (71). All the major phagocyte-type NAD(P)H oxidase subunits, including p47phox, p67phox and rac1, are expressed in ECs. Furthermore,  $O_2^-$  production by ECs is predominantly NADPH- rather than NADH-dependent. ROS generated by a phagocyte-type EC oxidase is implicated in endothelial dysfunction associated with hypercholesterolemia hypertension and hypoxia-reoxygenation injury (80).

Recently, a family of gp91phox-like proteins, the non-phagocytic NAD(P)H oxidase (NOX) proteins, has been discovered (81). In addition to the constitutively active phagocyte-type NAD(P)H oxidases expressed in vascular cells, ECs contain NOX1, NOX2, NOX4 and NOX5, and vascular smooth muscle cells express NOX1, NOX4 and NOX5 proteins (82). NOX1 and 4 were shown to be responsible for ROS generation in aortic SMCs (83).Other proteins including DUOX1 and 2, NOX organizer 1 and activator 1 are partly homologous to NOX, p47phox and p67phox respectively. These proteins are hypothesized to regulate NAD(P)H oxidase enzymatic activity (17).

#### 2.4.2. NAD(P)H oxidase and Angiotensin II

Ang II triggers oxidative stress in the vasculature. Ang II in pathophysiologically high amounts was first shown to activate NAD(P)H oxidase in rat VSMCs (16).

This activation was linked to superoxide and hydrogen peroxide production through a mechanism that remains not fully understood in endothelial cells (37). Ang II (100 nM) increases superoxide production in a NAD(P)H-dependent manner in HUVECs (80). In addition to ECs and SMCs, Ang II can activate NAD(P)H oxidases in fibroblast, cardiomyocytes and mesangial cells (79). Other vascular NAD(P)H oxidase agonists include TNF- $\alpha$ , PDGF, and thrombin (71). Moreover, in ECs mechanical forces such as unidirectional and oscillatory shear stress stimulate NAD(P)H oxidase activity.

In VSMCs, Ang II signals through the AT1R, acts through the intermediate c-Src and leads to the phosphorylation and translocation of p47phox to the membrane (84). It has also been established that Ang II activation of NAD(P)H oxidase involves upstream mediators Src/EGFR/PI3K/Rac-1 and PLD/PKC/p47phox phosphorylation (15), (85). PLD and PKC activation likely precede p47phox phosphorylation. C-Src activation also stimulates epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), which signals through phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) to produce phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate and consequently activates Rac-1. Rac-1 then moves to join the membrane components, which leads to the second part of oxidase activation (15). Furthermore, c-Src is redox sensitive and stimulated by  $H_2O_2$ , thus, its activation is increased perhaps through a positive feedback mechanism with NAD(P)H stimulation and  $H_2O_2$  production.

The increase in ROS resulting from NAD(P)H activation triggers various events within the cell. Amongst these events is the Ang II/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced hypertrophy of VSMCs (71) and endothelial dysfunction. Ang II has also been linked to inducing cellular inflammatory responses such as increasing the expression of monocyte chemoattractant 1 (MCP-1), vascular cell-adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1), and interleukin 6 via pathways involving extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1,2 (ERK1,2), p38 MAPK, protein tyrosine kinases, and JAK2 (Janus-activated kinase 2)–STAT (signal transducers and activators of transcription). ROS production also appears to activate matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in addition

to regulating angiogenesis via PKC and hypoxia-induced factor  $1\alpha$  (HIF1 $\alpha$ ) activation (17).

In particular, the Ang II-triggered activation of Akt has been shown in VSMCs. Furthermore, Akt phosphorylation is inhibited by DPI, indicating a role for NAD(P)H oxidase in Akt activation (19). It has also been shown that Ang II, when administered over extended periods of time (hours-days) increases the expression of NAD(P)H oxidase subunits. The particular subunits that are upregulated depend on if the stimulation is *in vitro* or *in vivo*, and the cell type (17).

Ang II has been shown to increase levels of  $H_2O_2$ -derived from NAD(P)H oxidase, which then activates eNOS (86). Thus, Ang II has the ability to simultaneously produce superoxide and nitric oxide in ECs and thus there exists the potential to form the damaging product peroxynitrite. The formation of peroxynitrite through this mechanism has been shown to cause endothelial damage *in vivo* (87). The production of peroxynitrite consequently inactivates nitric oxide, diminishing its beneficial effects on the vascular wall. Ang II-induced  $H_2O_2$  production stimulates Akt activation (19).

Activation of NAD(P)H oxidases not only induces *in vitro* effects but also triggers changes in certain clinically relevant animal models. Rats with Ang II-induced hypertension exhibit elevated superoxide levels and NAD(P)H oxidase activity. Moreover, administering SOD effectively lowers blood pressure in these rats (88). Vascular NAD(P)H oxidases contribute to elevated  $O_2^-$  production in rabbits with atherosclerosis and in conditions where Ang II tissue concentrations are elevated (71). Furthermore, AT1 receptor inhibitors reduce atherosclerotic lesion formation and restore endothelial function. Vascular NAD(P)H oxidases are associated with diabetic vascular diseases, cardiac hypertrophy, heart failure, and nitrate tolerance (17). The presence of ROS has an effect on the vascular wall.  $O_2^-$  and  $H_2O_2$  are important intracellular signaling molecules and act as second messengers to activate multiple intracellular signaling pathways.  $H_2O_2$  induces eNOS gene expression via a Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II/JAK2 signaling pathway, in endothelial cells (18). ROS also activate EGFR, STATs, PKC and trigger changes in Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels. Downstream of Ang II-induced ROS production, several intracellular targets have been identified such as the mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) family members (ERK 1/2, p38 MAPK, ERK 5 and JNK), tyrosine phosphatases, ras/rac, c-src and Akt (8). The MAPKs ERK1/2 and p38, as well as p70S6 and Akt/PKB play pivotal roles in Ang II-induced VSMC protein synthesis and cellular hypertrophy.

#### 2.5. Akt

#### 2.5.1. Akt structure and activation

Akt is a serine/threonine kinase activated by a number of growth factors and cytokines in a PI3K-dependent manner. Akt is implicated in numerous intracellular signaling mechanisms including insulin, estrogen and VEGF pathways (89). Akt is a critical regulator of PI3K-mediated cell survival and protein synthesis and a large number of studies have demonstrated in various cell types that constitutive activation of Akt signaling is sufficient to block cell death induced by a variety of apoptotic stimuli. Although Akt plays a crucial role in cell survival, it is classified as a multifunctional protein kinase rather than a simple regulator of cell survival (90). The PI3K-Akt signaling axis in endothelial cells is activated by many angiogenic growth factors and regulates downstream target molecules that are potentially involved in blood vessel growth and homeostasis. Mammalian genomes contain three Akt genes, Akt1/PKB $\alpha$ , Akt2/PKB $\beta$ , and Akt3/PKBy. All three genes are widely expressed in various tissues but Akt1 is the most abundant in brain, heart, and lung tissue, whereas Akt2 is predominantly expressed in skeletal muscle and embryonic brown fat, and Akt3 is predominantly expressed in brain, kidney, and embryonic heart tissue (91).

Akt contains an A-terminus pleckstrin homology (PH) domain in the amino terminus, a central kinase domain and a carboxy terminal regulatory domain (89). In unstimulated cells, Akt exists in the cytoplasm and its two regulatory phosphorylation sites, threenine (Thr) 308 and serine (Ser) 473 are unphosphorylated. Upon PI(3)K activation, Akt's PH domain binds to the lipid product of PI(3)K. Akt then moves from the cytoplasm to the plasma membrane (92). There, the upstream kinases 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase (PDK) 1 and 2 phosphorylate Thr 308 and Ser 473 respectively, thus activating the kinase activity of Akt (92). Potential Ser473-kinases include integrin-linked kinase (ILK), MAP kinase-activated protein kinase 2 (MK2), PDK1 (conversion of substrate specificity in association with protein kinase C-related kinase-2 [PRK2]) and Akt itself (auto-phosphorylation). Fully activated Akt is able to phosphorylate its downstream substrates and some of these molecules detach from the plasma membrane and translocate to various subcellular locations including the nucleus. Akt is inactivated by being dephosphorylated by protein phosphatases such as protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) (89).

#### 2.5.2. Akt stimulants, targets and cellular pathways

Several EC stimuli are able to enhance cell survival by activating PI3K-Akt signaling. These stimuli include VEGF, angiopoietin-1 (Ang-1), insulin, estrogen and reactive oxygen species. Growth factor activation of angiogenesis depends on EC–extracellular matrix attachment, for without this attachment ECs undergo apoptosis (89). These findings suggest that matrix attachment, involving integrin and molecules, is required for growth factors to activate Akt and maintain endothelial cell viability. Cell attachment is mostly mediated through interactions between the extracellular matrix (i.e. actin filaments), integrin and adaptor/signaling molecules (89).

Several downstream targets of Akt are recognized as apoptosis regulatory molecules including Bad, FKHR family of forkhead transcription factors, and

IKK $\alpha$  and these findings are consistent with the notion that Akt acts as a survival kinase (89). However, other downstream effectors of Akt are involved in different aspects of cellular regulation such as glucose transport (transporter GLUT4), glycogen synthesis (glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3)), cell cycle regulation (E2F, p21, MDM2) and protein synthesis (mTOR, 4E-BP1, S6K1). Thus, considering its variety in effects, Akt is considered to be a multifunctional protein kinase rather than a simple regulator of cell survival (90).

 $H_2O_2$  is able to stimulate Akt phosphorylation and activation and its elevation ultimately leads to VSMC hypertrophy and inflammation. This inflammation largely contributes to the onset of pathophysiological conditions such as hypertension and atherosclerosis (19). Ang II is also able to activate Akt in a PI3-K-dependent manner by increasing intracellular  $H_2O_2$ , indicating that Akt is part of a redox-sensitive signaling pathway–in SMCs. Furthermore, Ang II signaling through the AT1 receptor triggers an increase in superoxide production in vascular smooth muscle cells in a NAD(P)H oxidase-dependent manner resulting in PI3K activation and Akt phosphorylation and activation (19). This Ang IIinduced Akt activation ultimately results in VSMC hypertrophy (19).

VEGF induces hypotension in the intact organism, NO–dependent vasodilation in isolated coronary arteries, and NO release in isolated vessels and in cultured endothelial cells. Early studies demonstrated that VEGF-induced increase in NO release from endothelial cells is attenuated by PI3K inhibitors (93), and subsequently, it was demonstrated that VEGF stimulates Akt-mediated eNOS phosphorylation at Ser1177 (in human eNOS, equivalent to Ser1179 in bovine eNOS), leading to an increase in eNOS activity (20). In another study VEGF stimulation in BAEC's (bovine aortic ECs) was shown to activate the PI3K/Akt pathway which leads to eNOS phosphorylation (at ser 1177) and activation (21). Amongst its various targets, Akt, under certain stimulus conditions such as shear stress or flow-stimulation, leads to the phosphorylation of eNOS at Ser-1177, which leads to increased NO production in ECs (20), (94). TNF- $\alpha$  stimulation

triggers a similar pathway where eNOS activation by occurs through sequential activation of neutral sphingomyelinase and of the PI3K/Akt pathway (95). S1P stimulation of eNOS phosphorylation also involves Gi protein, PI3K and Akt.

#### 2.6. Nitric oxide and nitric oxide synthase

NO is formed by the enzyme nitric oxide synthase (NOS) via a reaction involving the guanidino nitrogen atom of L-arginine in various cells including VSMCs, ECs, macrophages, and neuronal cells (96). NOSs exist in three distinct isoforms: inducible NOS (iNOS), endothelial constitutive NOS (ecNOS) and neuronal cNOS. The iNOS enzyme is expressed in VSMCs, macrophages, hepatocytes, amongst others and is activated by bacterial lipopolysaccharides and several cytokines in a Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-independent manner. cNOSs, on the other hand, are Ca<sup>2+</sup>/ calmodulin-dependent enzymes (51).

NO produced by ecNOS activates endothelium-derived relaxing factor (EDRF), and in turn stimulates soluble guanylate cyclase in VSMC and increases cyclic GMP (cGMP), which act as an intracellular mediator in vasorelaxation and regulator of vascular tone (97). The interaction between NO and Ang II has been an active area of investigation. NO is implicated in the regulation of Ang II receptors in VSMCs (98) and studies indicate that endothelial NO is responsible for the endothelium-dependent inhibition of constriction induced by Ang II. Conversely, Ang II stimulates NO release by activation of Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent cNOS via AT1 receptors in ECs (97). Additionally, activation of PKC by diacylglycerol resulting from the Ang II-stimulated phosphoinositide breakdown may be partly involved in the mechanism of Ang II-induced cNOS activation (97).

The delicate interplay and the balance between the mediators Ang II and NO affect vascular remodeling. Vascular remodeling is characterized by cell hypertrophy and extracellular matrix synthesis, which leads to medial thickening
and luminal narrowing. Ang II and NO often have antagonistic effects on vascular remodeling and they both have beneficial and harmful effects on the vasculature. The final result in the cell depends on the balance of antioxidants and NO distribution (96). For example, in diabetes there is an increase in basement membrane; thus, there is an increased diffusion distance for NO to reach SMCs. Consequently there is more NO-O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> interaction and more peroxynitrite formation (96). EC's generate both Ang II and NO that are targeted to SMCs. In terms of benefits, NO is a vasodilator that also down-regulates AT1 receptors in SMCs and has a beneficial anti-inflammatory, anti-proliferative and anti-atherosclerotic response (99). Correspondingly, NOS inhibition (using L-NAME) has been shown to contribute to high blood pressure. Interestingly, Ang II increases NO synthesis, which helps control vessel integrity. Ang II is also beneficial to the endothelium since it activates the Akt signaling pathway, which leads to endothelial cell survival and proliferation (89). On the other hand, Ang II when acting through the AT1 receptor also promotes vascular SM hypertrophy and EC proliferation which contributes to atherosclerosis (8).

Ang II induces injury and vascular constriction in addition to playing a role in all stages of inflammation (increase in vascular permeability, leukocyte infiltration, and tissue remodeling) (46). Similarly, clinical trials indicate that excessive amounts of Ang II triggers diseased states; and, inhibiting Ang II reverses endothelial dysfunction and reduces cardiovascular events (9), (10), (11). Furthermore, NO can be harmful if it combines with  $O_2^-$  to form peroxynitrite, which is a potent oxidant with damaging effects on the endothelium.

#### 2.7. Peroxynitrite formation

Nitric oxide (NO) is a product of the enzymatic conversion of arginine to citrulline by nitric oxide synthase. NO reacts rapidly with superoxide (6.7 x  $10^9$  M<sup>-1</sup>sec<sup>-1</sup>) to form peroxynitrite. When O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> is present in the cell in excess the reaction proceeds and shifts the equilibrium from NO being a beneficial signaling molecule to a reagent that forms peroxynitrite and redox-related toxic products

(100). At physiological pH and in the presence of transition metals, peroxynitrite undergoes heterolytic cleavage to form hydroxyl anion and nitronium ion, the latter of which nitrates protein tyrosine residues.

The presence of nitrotyrosine on proteins is widely used as a marker for peroxynitrite formation *in vivo* (77). 3-nitrotyrosine (3-NT) is accepted stable biomarker of tissue peroxynitrite formation. In a study conducted by Wattanapitayakul SK *et al.* showed increased amounts of 3-NT in Ang II-treated vascular tissues, and moreover that the 3-NT was concentrated in the endothelium (100). They also found that there was an inverse correlation between Ach relaxant response and 3-NT immunoreactivity; thus, the efficacy of NO-mediated vascular relaxation is reduced. They showed that endothelial dysfunction may be mediated by peroxynitrite formation *in vivo* and that it precedes other Ang II-induced vascular pathologies (100).

Nitration of protein tyrosine residues has the effect of inhibiting various cellular pathways including mitochondrial respiration, high-energy phosphate utilization, prostaglandin synthesis, and superoxide dismutase activity. Peroxynitrite can also induce DNA strand breakage in HUVECs (100). Peroxynitrite is a potent oxidant that functions by directly oxidizing various biological molecules. It is mostly described as a mediator of NO toxicity, but has been associated with physiological activities (43). Its action strongly depends on its cellular environment. For example, it has been shown to cause apoptosis in transformed cell lines (101) and generate NO in the presence of thiols (102).

#### 3. Rationale

Endothelial dysfunction is an early stage in atherosclerosis and blocking Ang II is cardio-protective and preserves the endothelium (28). Clinical trials such as TREND (9) and BANFF (10) studies have demonstrated that excess Ang II is harmful for the endothelium and that ACEi's improve endothelial-dependent dilation. The milestone HOPE trials demonstrated that reducing Ang II using the ACEi ramipril was important for maintaining cardiovascular health and for reducing cardiovascular events (11). Recently, it has been shown that the AT1 antagonist losartan induces similar effects to the ACEi enalapril suggesting that inhibiting the RAS is essential for the protective effect (28), (103), (104).

However, amongst its other effects, Ang II increases NO, and NO exerts a beneficial effect on the endothelium; thus presenting us with an interesting paradox. Another important consideration is that unlike SMCs, ECs contain both ecNOS and NAD(P)H oxidase. Thus, in ECs, there is the potential for the simultaneous production of  $O_2^-$  and NO and generation of the potent oxidant peroxynitrite. Peroxynitrite formation causes endothelial dysfunction, which results in increased leukocyte infiltration and adhesion.

#### 4. Research Objective

We examined the cellular mechanism involved in Ang II-induced endothelial cell activation. We sought out to determine the interacting effects of Ang II-induced NO and superoxide production on endothelial activation and dysfunction. Part of the signaling mechanism studied focused on the activation of Akt and its downstream pathways. Akt is a central signaling molecule (involved in insulin, estrogen, VEGF pathways); thus, the presence of other factors could affect the *in vivo* response to Ang II. This study was also designed to make the molecular link between NAD(P)H oxidase-induced Ang II activation and peroxynitrite's damaging effects on the endothelium. We also studied the role of Akt activation by Ang II in the production of peroxynitrite.

Identifying effector molecules involved in Ang II signaling will provide possible paths for developing more precisely targeted therapies for Ang II-related ailments. Preventing Ang II-mediated endothelial activation/injury may be of therapeutic value for preventing atherosclerosis and hypertension.

### 5. Hypothesis

Ang II increases  $O_2^-$  production by NAD(P)H oxidase which leads to activation of Akt and increases intracellular NO by eNOS activation. Simultaneous production of  $O_2^-$  and NO results in the formation of peroxynitrite, and consequently endothelial dysfunction, activation and cell injury (**Figure 1**).

#### 6. Materials and Methods

#### 6.1. Materials

HUVECs were extracted from donors from the Royal Victoria Hospital birthing centre. Water-soluble Angiotensin II and the following inhibitors were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich: DMSO-soluble Diphenyleneneiodonium chloride (DPI), PBS-soluble  $N_{\omega}$ -Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride (L-NAME), DMSOsoluble wortmannin and candesartan. Bis (*N*-methylacridinium) nitrate (Lucigenin) soluble in 1% in acetic acid,  $\beta$ -Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide 2'phosphate reduced tetrasodium salt hydrate ( $\beta$ -NAD(P)H) dissolved in sodium hydroxide and water-soluble Tumor Necrosis Factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) were also purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

3,3'-dioctadecylindocarbocyanin-iodide (DiI) dye for fluorescent labeling of U937 monocytes was purchased from Biotium Inc. and 10% neutral buffered formalin from SurgiPath. Gfp virus, Ad5-CMV-eGFP as well as a dominant negative-Akt virus (Ad5-CMV-Akt-AAA) and a catalytically (constitutively) active-Akt virus (Ad5-CMV-myrAkt) were kind gifts from Dr. K. Walsh. Scrambled siRNA (19 base pairs) 'siCONTROL non-targeting siRNA #1' was purchased from Dharmacon RNA technologies and the p22 siRNA (21 base pairs) from Qiagen. Qiagen's HiPerfect reagent was used for siRNA transfections.

#### 6.2. Cell culture

#### 6.2.1. HUVECs

HUVECs were harvested from umbilical cords, isolated and pooled from 6 different donors using a previously developed protocol (72). Experiments were carried out on primary cells that were cultured up to 3 passages.

HUVECs were plated (approximately 1,500,000 cells/vial) onto 100 mm tissue culture plates and T-75 mm culture flasks. Cells were cultured in a 37°C

incubator of 5% (v/v) CO<sub>2</sub>. As cells approached confluency (approximately 70-80%), trypsin-EDTA (0.25%, Gibco-invitrogen) was used to detach cells from plate surface and cells were passaged. Cells were seeded on 100 mm plates, 6 well or 48 well dishes, depending on the experiment. They were used at a pre-confluency of approximately 95%.

Cells were cultured in endothelial cell growth medium: MCDB 131 media (Gibco-invitrogen) supplemented with 20% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS), 1% L-Glutamine (Gibco-invitrogen), 1% P/S/F (antibiotic-antimycotic, prepared with 10,000 units/mL penicillin G sodium, 10,000  $\mu$ g/mL streptomyocin sulfate and 25  $\mu$ g/mL amphotericin B as Fungizone in 0.85 % saline, Gibco-invitrogen,), 3 mg/100 mL endothelial mitogen growth factor (Biomedical Technologies Inc.), 135  $\mu$ L Hepalean/100 mL media (heparin sodium injection 10,000 U.S.P. units/mL, Oragon Canada). The cell culture media was changed every two days. Prior to, during and following experiments, cells were frequently monitored using a microscope to check for growth, changes in appearance and to rule out contamination.

#### 6.2.2. U937 monocytes

U937 monocytes were seeded on 150 mm culture dishes and grown in 20-25 mL media per dish. These cells grow in suspension, thus do not adhere to the base of the dish. Cells were cultured in a  $37^{\circ}$ C incubator of 5% (v/v) CO<sub>2</sub>. Cells were cultured in RPMI media 1640 (Invitrogen) + 1% L-Glutamine and 1% P/S/F and 10% FBS. Media was changed every 4 days. As cells approached approximately 70-80% confluency, they were passaged. Prior to, during and following experiments, cells were frequently monitored using a microscope to check for growth, changes in appearance and to rule out contamination.

41

#### 6.3. Superoxide detection with lucigenin-enhanced chemiluminescence

HUVECs were grown to approximately 95% confluency and plated onto 100 mm culture dishes in endothelial cell growth medium (see above). Cells were then stimulated with Ang II (100 nM) for 1 hour in growing media; no serum deprivation was used. Control cells and stimulated cells were scraped thoroughly using 200  $\mu$ L of Hepes Buffer (see above) per plate, collected in sterilized eppendorf tubes, repeatedly vortexed and placed on ice for the remainder of the experiment. The following conditions were run: blank, control, Ang II, Ang II + DPI (5  $\mu$ M) and Ang II + L-Name (3 mM). The inhibitors were added following cell scraping into suspensions of Ang II stimulated cells. Hepes buffer was used.

LMax II 384 luminometer (Molecular Devices) using SoftMax Pro (version 4.7.1) software were used to measure superoxide levels in each well. Lucigenin (10  $\mu$ M) and NAD(P)H (250 uM) were injected into each well. The superoxide level was measured every 31 seconds for a period of 30 minutes. The background signal was subtracted from the total output and the area under the curve of output was calculated (by the SoftMax Pro software). Following superoxide measurements, cells were counted (a sample from the control pool and one from the Ang II stimulation). Results were normalized to the number of cells (we used a conversion factor to obtain the effective results for 1,000,000 cells per 1 mL).

#### 6.4. Adhesion assay

The monocyte adhesion assay was modeled after Fiedler U *et. al.* (105). Passage 3 HUVECs were seeded in 48 well plates in 200  $\mu$ L endothelial growth medium per well (see above), with the only exception being that 10% FBS was used. HUVECs were grown to approximately 95% confluency. Saturating concentrations of TNF- $\alpha$  (above 0.04 ng/mL) have been shown to induce intense U937 monocyte adhesion to the cultured HUVEC monolayer and was therefore chosen as a positive control (105). In our experiments, TNF- $\alpha$  was used at a concentration of 10 ng/mL.

42

#### Dil labeling of U937 monocytic cells

Monocytes were diluted and counted using a hemocytometer. 500,000 monocytes per well were centrifuged and resuspended in 5 mL of D-PBS. 5  $\mu$ L of 1 mM stock DiI was then added to the cell suspension, to make a final labeling concentration of 1  $\mu$ M. Cells and added dye were gently pipetted to ensure proper mixing. The cell-dye mixture was incubated in 37°C water bath for 20 min with occasional mixing by inversion of the tube. Following incubation, cells were centrifuged, washed twice with PBS and finally resuspended in stimulation medium (250  $\mu$ L of stimulation medium plus monocyte solution per well). The cell suspension was then added to each well of confluent HUVECs at the end of the 6 hour Ang II stimulation.

#### 6.4.1. Initial control conditions and inhibitors

A triplicate of the following conditions was used: Control-Stimulation media, Control-Ang II solvent (ddH<sub>2</sub>0), positive control-TNF- $\alpha$  (10 ng/mL), Ang II (100 nM), Ang II + DPI (5  $\mu$ M), Ang II + Wortmannin (100 nM), Ang II + L-Name (3 mM), Ang II + Candesartan (10  $\mu$ M).

Cells were incubated with inhibitors for 1 hour prior to 6 hour stimulation with Ang II or TNF- $\alpha$ . The only difference between the stimulation media and the growing media was that the stimulation media contained 5% FBS. Stimulation volume was 200 µL per well. Following stimulation, media was removed and to each well 200 µL of stimulation medium containing 500,000 3,3'-DiI-labeled U937 monocytic cells were added (see above for DiI labeling technique). Monocytes were allowed to adhere to plated HUVECs for 30 min in 37°C on a rocking platform. After the initial 15 min of shaking, the plate was rotated 90° for the remainder of the shaking time. After removing the media and suspended monocytes, the wells were then washed three times, at room temperature, with PBS. Washing was important for ensuring only tightly adhering monocytes remained. Following the washes, cells were fixed for 30 min using 10% neutral

buffered formalin, at room temperature. The formalin was then removed and cells were visualized. U937 adhesion was quantified in four fields per well (each condition was a triplicate) viewed under 10X magnification, with an automated image analysis system using an Olympus 1X70 inverted microscope (under the red fluorescence filter) and Image-Pro Plus software (version 4.5.0.29).

#### 6.4.2. Use of Akt viruses

In order to study the specificity of the response, Akt viruses were used as a tool to examine the role of Akt in monocyte adhesion. HUVECs were plated at passage 3 and grown on 48 well plates using the same growing media as for the initial adhesion assay (see above). At approximately 70% confluency, cells were transfected with viruses for 4 hours using serum deprived media (MCDB 131 + 1% L-Glutamine). Gfp virus, Ad5-CMV-eGFP (1.3x10<sup>12</sup> particles/mL, 4x10<sup>10</sup> titer pfu/mL) was used as a positive control to indicate transfection efficiency. Dominant negative-Akt virus (Ad5-CMV-Akt-AAA) (1.3x10<sup>12</sup> particles/mL,  $1 \times 10^{10}$  titer pfu/mL) and a catalytically (constitutively) active Akt virus (Ad5-CMV-myrAkt) (1.1x10<sup>12</sup> particles/mL, 2x10<sup>10</sup> titer pfu/mL). The Akt viruses were used at a dose of 50 molecule of infection (MOI=PFU/mL), 200 µL per well was used. Following the transfection time course, cells were washed three times with PBS to remove any residual virus media and supplied with growing media (250  $\mu$ L per well was used-slightly higher than the usual 200  $\mu$ L cells are grown in to compensate for serum deprivation and stress caused by virus transfection). Visualization of GFP was used to ensure successful virus transfection. Cells were then grown to full confluency and the monocyte adhesion assay was carried out following the same protocol described above.

#### 6.4.3. Use of p22phox siRNA

In order to examine the effect of NAD(P)H oxidase on monocyte adhesion to HUVECs following Ang II stimulation, siRNA against the p22phox subunit was used. HUVECs were grown to approximately 70% confluency (the protocol is optimized to 50-70% confluency) on 48 well plates. Cells were washed with PBS

before growth medium was replaced by starving media (MCDB 131 + 1% L-Glutamine) of 200 µL/well. siRNA was mixed with HiPerfect reagent and starving media and allowed to form complexes for 10 min at room temperature. Scrambled siRNA was used at a concentration of 10 nM and p22 siRNA at 1.4 µg. 0.78 µL/well of HiPerfect solution was used and mixed with starving media. Following the room temperature incubation, the mixture of siRNA and HiPerfect was added drop wise to each well (50 µL/well). Plates were tilted to ensure even mixing and incubated at 37°C for 5 hours. Following incubation, complexes were removed, cells were washed twice with PBS and EC growth media was added back to HUVECs. Cells were then grown to full confluency and 3 days later, the monocyte adhesion assay was carried out following the same protocol described above.

#### 6.5. Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as  $\pm$ SEM from 3-5 separate experiments for each set of experiments. Statistical analysis between the groups was performed with one-way or two-way ANOVA and using pair wise multiple comparison procedure (Student-Newmann-Keuls method). P values below 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

#### 7. Results

#### 7.1. Ang II increases superoxide production

In order to determine if Ang II enhanced  $O_2^-$  production, the levels between control cells and Ang II-stimulated cells were compared over 30 minutes by measuring lucigenin-enhanced chemiluminescence. **Figure 2** illustrates data averaged over 3 separate experiments. Following 1 hour of Ang II stimulation, there appeared to be just over a 4-fold increase in the  $O_2^-$  level compared with the control cells. The data passed the normality and equal variance tests. A one-way analysis of variance (pair wise multiple comparison procedure-using the Student-Newman-Keuls Method) was performed on the data and indicated that the differences in the mean values among the treatment groups were greater than would be expected by chance; thus, there was a statistically significant difference (P < 0.05).

## 7.2. Pharmacological blocker DPI inhibits the Ang II-triggered increase in superoxide production

In order to examine the particular role of NAD(P)H oxidase and eNOS in Ang IIenhanced  $O_2^-$  production, pharmacological inhibitors L-Name (eNOS inhibitor) and DPI (NAD(P)H oxidase inhibitor) were used in the assay. The  $O_2^-$  levels between control cells, Ang II-stimulated cells and Ang II-stimulated cells incubated with inhibitors were compared over 30 minutes of measuring lucigeninenhanced chemiluminescence. **Figure 3** illustrates data averaged over 4 separate experiments. Following 1 hour of Ang II stimulation, there appeared to be approximately a 1.9-fold increase in the  $O_2^-$  level compared with the control cells. Cells pre-treated with L-Name displayed approximately a 2.24-fold increase in  $O_2^-$  level compared with the control cells, a value very close to Ang II stimulated cells. Cells pre-treated with DPI produced  $O_2^-$  levels slightly less than the control cells (approximately 0.89 fold of the control cell level). DPI treated Ang IIstimulated cells when compared to Ang II stimulated cells produced approximately half the amount of  $O_2^-$ . The data passed the normality and equal variance tests. A two-way analysis of variance (pair wise multiple comparison procedure-using the Student-Newman-Keuls Method) was performed on the data and indicated that the differences in the mean values between the control group and the Ang-II treated group were greater than would be expected by chance; thus, there was a statistically significant difference (P < 0.05). A pair wise comparison between Ang-II treated groups (with and without DPI) indicated a statistically significant difference (P < 0.05). Similarly, when Ang-II treated groups (pre-treated with L-Name vs. DPI) were compared, a statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) was also reported.

#### 7.3. Ang II enhances monocyte adhesion to HUVECs

The extent of U937 monocyte adhesion to HUVEC monolayers was used to as an indicator of initial stages of endothelial dysfunction. After taking pictures of each well for each condition using the Olympus 1X70 inverted microscope, the fluorescently labeled monocytes were manually counted. The data presented in Figure 4 is a representative experiment of 3 separately conducted experiments. The positive control TNF- $\alpha$  increases monocyte adhesion to HUVECs (105). TNF-a-stimulated HUVECs had 5.57 and 8.44 times as many monocytes adhering as control conditions ( $ddH_2O$  and stimulation media respectively). The data passed the normality and equal variance tests. Pair wise comparison tests between TNF-a-stimulated HUVECs and both control groups (ddH<sub>2</sub>O and stimulation media) indicated statistically significant differences (P < 0.001 for both control groups). There was also a reported statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) between TNF- $\alpha$ -stimulated HUVECs and Ang II-stimulated cells. Ang II was also shown to increase the number of monocytes that attached to HUVECs by 3.29 and 4.98 times as many monocytes adhering as control conditions (ddH<sub>2</sub>O and stimulation media respectively). Ang II's effect on adhesion was 58.97% of that induced by TNF- $\alpha$ . Pair wise comparison tests between Ang II-stimulated HUVECs and both control groups (ddH<sub>2</sub>O and stimulation media) indicated statistically significant differences (P < 0.05 for both control groups).

### 7.4. Pharmacological blockers Cd, DPI, Wm and L-Name inhibit the Ang IItriggered increase in monocyte adhesion to HUVECs

The next stage in examining monocyte adhesion to HUVECs involved pharmacological inhibitors. Specific inhibitors were chosen to target key players in the proposed pathway in order to assess how they affect monocyte adhesion. The adhesion assay was conducted in the same way as the initial set, and the fluorescent monocytes were also counted in the same manner. The data shown in Figure 5 is a representative experiment of 3 separately conducted experiments. TNF- $\alpha$ -stimulated HUVECs had 14.35 and 5.59 times as many monocytes adhering as control conditions (ddH<sub>2</sub>O and stimulation media respectively). The data passed the normality and equal variance tests. Pair wise comparison tests between TNF-a-stimulated HUVECs and both control groups (ddH<sub>2</sub>O and stimulation media) indicated statistically significant differences (P < 0.001 for both control groups). There was also a reported statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) between TNF- $\alpha$ -stimulated HUVECs and Ang II-stimulated cells. Ang II was also shown to increase the number of monocytes that attached to HUVECs by 11.5 and 4.48 times as many monocytes adhering as control conditions (ddH<sub>2</sub>O and stimulation media respectively). This increase in monocyte adhesion was 80.17% of that induced by TNF- $\alpha$ . Pair wise comparison tests between Ang IIstimulated HUVECs and both control groups ( $ddH_2O$  and stimulation media) indicated statistically significant differences (P < 0.001 for both control groups).

Monocyte adhesion in response to Ang II was decreased by candesartan (by 0.37and 0.14-fold compared to  $ddH_2O$  and stimulation media control groups respectively), DPI (by 2.83-and 1.10-fold compared to  $ddH_2O$  and stimulation media control groups respectively), L-NAME (by 0.26-and 0.10-fold compared to  $ddH_2O$  and stimulation media control groups respectively), wortmannin (by 0.32and 0.13-fold compared to  $ddH_2O$  and stimulation media control groups respectively). Pair wise comparison tests were performed between Ang IIstimulated HUVECs and Ang II-stimulated HUVECs pre-treated with each inhibitor. Comparing Ang II stimulated cells (no inhibitor vs. wortmannin) indicated a statistically significant difference (P < 0.001). Similarly, comparing Ang II stimulated cells (no inhibitor vs. DPI) indicated a statistically significant difference (P < 0.001). When Ang II stimulated cells (no inhibitor vs. L-Name) were compared, the test indicated a statistically significant difference (P < 0.001). And finally, comparing Ang II stimulated cells (no inhibitor vs. candesartan) indicated a statistically significant difference (P < 0.001).

## 7.5. Dominant negative-Akt virus inhibits the Ang II-triggered increase in monocyte adhesion to HUVECs and constitutively active-Akt virus elevates the Ang II-triggered increase in monocyte adhesion to HUVECs

The next stage in examining monocyte adhesion to HUVECs involved Akt viruses. Specific inhibitors were chosen to target Akt in the proposed pathway in order to assess their effects on monocyte adhesion. The adhesion assay was conducted in the same way as the initial set except for transfecting the HUVECs with viruses before running the Ang II stimulation and adding monocytes; the fluorescent monocytes were also counted in the same manner. In this set of experiments a GFP virus was used as a positive control, to indicate successful transfection. Three hours following HUVEC transfection, GFP was visualized using the Olympus 1X70 inverted fluorescent microscope. The following day, cells transfected with GFP viruses strongly expressed the protein throughout the wells. The data shown in **Figure 6** is a representative experiment of 5 separate experiments. The data passed the normality and equal variance tests.

The dominant negative-AKT virus decreased monocyte adhesion by 0.39 fold, while the constitutively active-AKT virus increased adhesion by 1.54 fold, compared to Ang II-stimulated GFP-transfected cells. Pair wise comparison tests between all Ang II-stimulated groups and all control groups indicated statistically significant differences (P < 0.001). Pair wise comparison tests were performed on cells within each virus. Control cells transfected with the dn-Akt virus vs. ca-Akt virus showed a statistically significant difference (P < 0.05). Comparison of Ang

II stimulated cells (GFP virus vs. dn-Akt virus) indicated a statistically significant difference (P < 0.001). Comparing Ang II stimulated cells (GFP virus vs. ca-Akt virus) indicated a statistically significant difference (P < 0.001). Comparing Ang II stimulated cells (dn-Akt virus vs. ca-Akt virus) indicated a statistically significant difference (P < 0.001).

Furthermore, comparing the effect of the dn-Akt virus (control cells vs. Ang IIstimulated cells), a statistically significant difference was noted (P < 0.05). Similarly, when comparing the effect of the ca-Akt virus (control cells vs. Ang IIstimulated cells), a statistically significant difference was noted (P < 0.001).

## 7.6. p22phox siRNA inhibits the Ang II-triggered increase in monocyte adhesion to HUVECs

In order to further examine the specific role of NAD(P)H oxidase on Ang IIinduced monocyte adhesion to HUVECs, siRNA specific to the p22phox component was used, along with a scrambled siRNA as a control. As shown in **Figure 7**, the p22phox siRNA decreased Ang II-induced monocyte adhesion by 1.94-fold, compared to the Ang II-stimulated HUVECs transfected with scrambled siRNA. The data passed the normality and equal variance tests. Pair wise comparison tests between all Ang II-stimulated groups and all control groups indicated statistically significant differences (P < 0.001). Pair wise comparison tests were performed on cells within each siRNA group. Control cells transfected with the scrambled siRNA vs. p22 siRNA did not show a statistically significant difference (P > 0.05). However, comparing Ang II stimulated cells (scrambled siRNA vs. p22 siRNA) did in fact indicate a statistically significant difference (P < 0.001). Furthermore, comparing the effect of the p22 siRNA (control cells vs. Ang II-stimulated cells), a statistically significant difference was noted (P < 0.05).

#### 8. Discussion

The main finding of this study was that that Ang II stimulation in ECs led to the activation of NAD(P)H oxidase and consequently Akt, eNOS and EC activation. In our proposed mechanism it is the simultaneous production of NO from eNOS and superoxide from NAD(P)H oxidase that leads to endothelial activation. Interestingly, blocking either the source of superoxide, NAD(P)H oxidase, or the source of NO, PI3K-Akt-eNOS, resulted in a decrease of endothelial activation and consequently a decrease in monocyte adhesion to HUVECs. Our findings shed light on the paradox of why Ang II-induced Akt activation and NO production have a harmful rather than a beneficial effect on the endothelium, as NO is known to improve endothelial function. Using multiple approaches (pharmacological inhibitors, viruses and siRNA) in order to inhibit the AT1 receptor, NAD(P)H oxidase, PI3K, Akt and eNOS we observed that in order to block Ang II-induced endothelial activation, one, but not all of the aforementioned molecular players can be inhibited.

Although parts of the signaling mechanism of Ang II have been identified, the interactions between the molecular players examined in this study have not been considered. Moreover, establishing the pathway in ECs is of importance, as Ang II signaling is more clearly understood in SMCs. The precise mechanism by which Ang II triggers endothelial activation remains uncertain. Although SMCs and ECs share similarities, their differences affect how they respond to stimuli. Our rationale was based on what is known in SMCs, the characteristics of ECs and established pathways in ECs triggered by stimulants such as TNF- $\alpha$ .

Understanding this mechanism is of physiological and clinical significance for several reasons. First of all, Akt is a central signaling player in several cellular pathways including insulin, estrogen, VEGF, shear stress and growth factors, and its involvement and potential alteration (by inhibition or over activation) in Ang II signaling may affect other pathways. Secondly, understanding why ACEi's and ARBs have protective effects on the vascular endothelium could have pharmaceutical applications for the design of more specifically targeted drugs. Thirdly, examining Ang II's effect on increasing both  $O_2^-$  and NO using an *in vitro* model will contribute to understanding the physiology *in vivo*, where the result depends on the overall balance of these and other oxidants, antioxidants and NO distribution. And finally, the mechanism behind Ang II-induced endothelial activation may help clarify the process of focal leukocyte recruitment by the endothelium, an important aspect of atherosclerosis.

#### 8.1. Cell cultures

The two cell lines that were used were Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells (HUVECs) and U937 monocytes.

#### 8.1.1. HUVECs

The HUVECs used were from a primary cell line, freshly isolated from umbilical cords. These cells were chosen for our experiments partly because of their availability and their ease in culturing. HUVECs are widely used in Ang II studies since they express Ang II receptors (34). We confirmed the involvement of the AT1 receptor using Ang II stimulations and the AT1 receptor inhibitor candesartan. Since the expression of AT1 receptors in HUVECs is strongest within the first 5 passages, all experiments were conducted within 3 passages. ECs are able to produce NO in response to vasoactive pro-inflammatory cytokines (106), and more specifically, HUVECs are able to produce NO; thus, they were appropriate choice for our study (107). Since HUVECs are sensitive to environmental changes, extra care had to be taken as they were a challenge to work with during stimulations involving transfections, temperature changes, and serum deprivation. If cells were disturbed or stressed they rounded up and became unattached to the plate surface. For example, during virus transfection, the initial MOI used was 100 for 6 hours; however, HUVECs were unable to withstand the stress. Thus, the MOI was reduced to 50 and time of transfection was changed to 4 hours. Furthermore, the health and degree of confluency of the cells was critical for successful transfections. 100 nM was the chosen dosage of Ang II for EC stimulations based on previously performed studies (43), (62), (79), (97).

#### 8.1.2. U937 monocytes

The adhesion assay we used was modeled after Fiedler *et al.*, in which they used U937 monocytes (105). These monocytes are an immortalized cell line and are a homogenous population of cells that are grown in suspension, simple to culture and are widely used in endothelial adhesion studies (108), (109). Monocytes express various cell surface adhesion molecules and receptors that mediate rolling, activation, and firm arrest on vascular endothelial cells (110). Some of these adhesion molecules include ICAM-1, 2, 3, fibrinogen, fibronectin, VLA-4 and the leukocyte ligand for VCAM-1 (111). An important issue encountered was the tendency of U937 monocytes to clump together, especially during the adhesion assay. For this reason, mixing by rocking as well as the washing steps prior to fixation with formalin were particularly important.

#### 8.1.3. Serum deprivation of cells

HUVECs were serum starved during the Ang II stimulation experiments for the adhesion assays. Similarly, for the adhesion assay, inhibitor incubations, virus infections, siRNA transfections and Ang II stimulations cells were in starvation media that only contained 5% FBS and 1% L-Glutamine. This period of starvation minimized the proliferative signaling of the culture medium. It is important to note that the transition from full growth to starvation media triggered EC detachment. For this reason, the starvation period was not extended beyond 6 hours and the FBS concentration was not lowered below 1%. Cells were not serum deprived for superoxide measurements using chemiluminescence, because starving HUVECs increase ROS (112).

#### 8.2. Experimental techniques

#### 8.2.1. Lucigenin-enhanced chemiluminescence

The measurement of superoxide levels in intact endothelial cell was done using lucigenin (10  $\mu$ M)-enhanced chemiluminescence. Lucigenin reacts with ROS to emit light and the superoxide produced is measured as light units/min. This method is considered to be a reliable and sound assay for detecting superoxide (113). Lucigenin (10  $\mu$ M)-enhanced chemiluminescence has been used in an Ang II study assessing superoxide production by NAD(P)H oxidase in HUVECs (80).

The use of lucigenin-enhanced chemiluminescence for detecting  $O_2^-$  production by biological tissues was under scrutiny in the past because of the potential for redox cycling and artefactual  $O_2^-$  generation when high doses (substantially higher than 5 µM) of lucigenin are used (114). Li *et al.* showed that such redox cycling only occurred at lucigenin concentrations above 5 µM, and that the potential for redox cycling was influenced by the precise system under study (114). Since we used lucigenin at 10 µM in our studies, our results were a reliable representation of superoxide produced in the cell.

Because this method is highly sensitive, there was a large variability between individual experiments. Although the pattern seen in the results was consistent (i.e. higher superoxide levels in Ang II-stimulated cells), the superoxide levels measured varied between experiment sets. To account for this variability, results were shown in terms of fold changes with respect to control samples, as seen in **Figures 2 and 3**. Statistically significant differences were reported between control and Ang II-stimulated cells and Ang II-stimulated cells incubated with inhibitors DPI and L-Name.

#### 8.2.2. Adhesion assay

Atherosclerosis affects the arterial wall and involves both innate and adaptive inflammation. Inflammation is involved in all stages of atherosclerosis, including

endothelium activation and increased expression of chemokines/adhesion molecules leading to leukocyte recruitment and infiltration into the subendothelium (45). Ang II plays a role in the inflammatory response by increasing vascular permeability, leukocyte infiltration, and tissue remodeling (46). More specifically, Ang II increases monocyte adhesion to ECs (60) through a mechanism that remains unclear. We studied monocyte adhesion to ECs using pharmacological inhibitors, viruses and siRNA to block specific points of our proposed pathway. The adhesion assay we ran was modeled after Fiedler U *et. al.*'s study on Angiopoietin-2's effect on endothelial response to TNF- $\alpha$  (105). The monocyte adhesion assay is a widely used method to study endothelial cell activation (108), (109).

#### 8.3. Experimental approach: inhibiting various points in the pathway

We examined the specific molecular players in our proposed Ang II signaling using pharmacological inhibitors, viruses mechanism and siRNA in chemiluminescence and adhesion assays. The inhibitors used in this study were AT1 receptor blocker candesartan, PI3K inhibitor wortmannin, NAD(P)H oxidase inhibitor DPI, and eNOS inhibitor L-Name. These inhibitors were used to assess affect II-induced changes Akt/eNOS/nitrotyrosine their on Ang in phosphorylation, superoxide production and monocyte adhesion to HUVECs. In order to examine Akt's role in Ang II-induced endothelial dysfunction, dominant negative-Akt virus and a constitutively active-Akt virus were used. And finally, we also used siRNA targeted at the p22phox NAD(P)H oxidase subunit, to determine the specific role of NAD(P)H oxidase in Ang II-induced endothelial dysfunction. The following sections discuss the tools used in examining our proposed pathway.

#### 8.3.1. Inhibition of the AT1 receptor using candesartan

Candesartan (pharmaceutical drug name Atacand) is commonly prescribed to patients to treat hypertension. High blood pressure reduction helps prevent strokes, heart attacks, and kidney problems. Clinical applications also include treatment of congestive heart failure, and to help protect the kidneys from damage due to diabetes. Candesartan blocks the vasoconstrictor and aldosterone secreting effects of angiotensin II by selectively blocking the binding of angiotensin II to the AT1 receptor in many tissues, such as vascular smooth muscle and the adrenal gland. Its action is therefore independent of the pathways for angiotensin II synthesis. The result is blocking the action of angiotensin II thereby relaxing vascular smooth muscle, causing blood vessels to dilate. Candesartan does not inhibit angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE), nor does it bind to or block other hormone receptors or ion channels known to be important in cardiovascular regulation (115).

Cd has a high affinity for AT1 receptors (in the low nanomolar range) and a practically negligible affinity for AT2 receptors. Studies have convincingly demonstrated that candesartan, like all AT1 receptor antagonists, is a competitive inhibitor, with a very slow dissociation from the receptor. Candesartan shares the same mechanism of action as other Angiotensin II receptor antagonists but has a different pharmacokinetic profile (115). Candesartan is widely used to study Ang II signaling in HUVECs. It has been used to inhibit HUVEC migration (116) and abolish the stimulatory action of Ang II on *in vitro* and *in vivo* soluble ICAM-1 release (62). In another study, candesartan was used to decrease the expression of NAD(P)H oxidase subunit gp91-phox, reduce oxidative stress in the vessel wall and thus have an anti-atherosclerotic and anti-oxidative effect (117).

In the monocyte adhesion assay, as seen in **Figure 5**, Candesartan effectively blocked the increase in monocyte adhesion to HUVEC monolayers in both Ang II and TNF- $\alpha$ -stimulated HUVECs, bringing the level of adhering monocytes down to below baseline control levels. Thus, Cd acted as an effective AT1 receptor antagonist blocking Ang II's signaling cascades in ECs.

#### 8.3.2. Inhibition of NAD(P)H oxidase using DPI

Diphenyleneneiodonium chloride (DPI) is a pharmacological inhibitor that binds strongly to flavoproteins. It acts as a powerful and specific inhibitor of several important enzymes, including nitric oxide synthase (NOS), NAD(P)H-ubiquinone oxidoreductase, NAD(P)H oxidases and NAD(P)H cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase. The inhibition of neutrophil NAD(P)H oxidase by DPI results in the loss of recoverable photoreduced flavin (FAD). The radical mechanism of action involves abstraction (by DPI) of an electron from the reduced redox centre to form a radical, which then adds back directly on to the prosthetic group or adjacent protein groups in or near the active site to form adducts (118). The NAD(P)H oxidase complex is present in various cell types, including SMCs and ECs, and increases superoxide production upon stimulation by Ang II, TNF- $\alpha$ , PDGF, and thrombin (71), (79). DPI is a widely used inhibitor in oxidative stress and NAD(P)H oxidase signaling studies (119), (120).

DPI was used at a concentration of 5  $\mu$ M in our experiments. Although it has been used at concentrations as high as 100  $\mu$ M (119) and 30  $\mu$ M (120), DPI acted effectively at 5  $\mu$ M in our studies. In the superoxide measurements using lucigenin-enhanced chemiluminescence, shown in **Figure 3**, DPI successfully blocked the Ang II-induced increase in superoxide production, and brought the level of superoxide to slightly below baseline levels. Also, in the monocyte adhesion assay, as seen in **Figure 5**, DPI effectively blocked the increase in monocyte adhesion in both Ang II and TNF- $\alpha$ -stimulated HUVECs, and brought the level of adhering monocytes down to approximately baseline control levels. Thus, DPI effectively blocked the action of NAD(P)H oxidase in producing superoxide suggesting that NAD(P)H oxidase plays a role in Ang II-induced endothelial activation.

#### 8.3.3. Inhibition of NAD(P)H oxidase using p22phox siRNA

siRNA against the p22phox subunit of NAD(P)H oxidase was used to study the specific role of NAD(P)H oxidase on monocyte adhesion. This particular enzyme

subunit was chosen because it plays a crucial role in oxidase activation (78). In a previous study, antisense p22phox stably transfected into cultured VSMCs resulted in a 50% decrease in angiotensin II–stimulated NAD(P)H oxidase activity (121). A scrambled form of siRNA was used as a control, and HiPerfect reagent was used for transfections. The siRNA transfection protocol used for this study was optimized for HUVECs by Al Gouleh I *et al.* (122). **Figure 7** illustrates the effect of the siRNA on monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells. The p22phox siRNA successfully blocked the Ang II-induced increase in monocyte adhesion whereas the scrambled siRNA did not have an effect on control or Ang II-stimulated HUVECs.

#### 8.3.4. Inhibition of PI3K using wortmannin

The potent and specific phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase inhibitor wortmannin, used in our study was isolated from penicillium funiculosum. Inhibition of PI3K/Akt signal transduction cascade enhances the apoptotic effects of radiation or serum withdrawal and blocks the antiapoptotic effect of cytokines. Inhibition of PI3K by wortmannin also blocks many of the short-term metabolic effects induced by insulin receptor activation. The inhibition induced by Wm is irreversible (123). Wm has been used in previous signaling studies on the role of Akt on mitogen activated protein kinase kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 (MEK/ERK1/2) and eNOS activation (86), (21). Wm has also been used to study Akt's response to shear stress (20), (124) and VEGF (21) amongst other stimulants.

Wm was used at a concentration of 100 nM in our studies, as this concentration was determined to be optimal for the HUVECs used. Wm has a non-cytotoxic effect of cells at the concentration used, yet it remains effective. In fact, concentrations as low as 10 nM have been shown to effectively block the PI3K/Akt survival signaling pathway in HUVECs (112). In the monocyte adhesion assay, as seen in **Figure 5**, Wm effectively blocked the increase in monocyte adhesion to HUVEC monolayers in both Ang II and TNF- $\alpha$ -stimulated

HUVECs, bringing the level of adhering monocytes down to below baseline control levels. Thus, the use of Wm in our studies helped illustrate the involvement of the PI3K-Akt signaling cascade in Ang II-induced endothelial activation.

#### 8.3.5. Inhibition of Akt using viruses

We used, a dominant negative (dn)-Akt virus (Ad5-CMV-Akt-AAA) and a catalytically (constitutively) active (ca)-Akt virus (Ad5-CMV-myrAkt) in order to study the role of Akt on monocyte adhesion to HUVEC monolayers. The dn-Akt virus is an HA-tagged, inactive phosphorylation AKT mutant that contains an alanine substitution at the active site (residue 179) in addition to two alanine substitutions at the regulatory phosphorylation sites (125). The dominant-negative mutant Akt protein cannot be activated by phosphorylation and it functions in a dominant-negative fashion. The constitutively active Akt construct has the c-*src* myristoylation sequence fused in-frame to the N terminus of the HA-Akt (wild-type) coding sequence. The mutant Akt and constitutively active Akt adenoviral vectors were constructed by the same protocol (125).

This dn-Akt virus was previously used by Hussain SN and coworkers and was shown to successfully inhibit Akt signaling pathways in HUVECs (126); thus, the same virus infection protocol was used. The ca-Akt virus used in our study was used in a previous study to confer survival to ECs in suspension and under serum-deprived conditions (125). The green fluorescent protein (Gfp) virus, Ad5-CMV-eGFP was used as a control virus to indicate successful endothelial cell infection. This virus was also used as a control by Harfouche R *et al*, (126). After 3 hours of infection, several Gfp's were visualized per view using an Olympus 1X70 inverted microscope. The day following cell infection, nearly all endothelial cell in view expressed gfp.

Although in the Harfouche *et al.* virus transfection protocol 100 molecule of infection (MOI) were used for gfp and dn-Akt viruses, the amount was too high

for our particular strain of HUVECs and this concentration resulted in cell death. The cells in the Harfouche *et al.* study were purchased from GlycoTech Corporation, whereas our cells were freshly isolated. Since the cells were from different sources, perhaps their response to viruses also differed. In an earlier study, an MOI of 50 was used for Akt and Gfp viruses (127). In the Fujio Y *et al.* study, the ca-Akt virus was used at a MOI of 50 as well. In our experiments, the MOI for all 3 viruses was subsequently reduced to 50 MOI, and with this concentrations, the health of the cells was not compromised. **Figure 6** illustrates the effect of the viruses on monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells. The dn-Akt virus successfully blocked the Ang II-induced increase in monocyte adhesion whereas the ca-Akt virus successfully increased monocyte adhesion, compared to cells incubated with Ang II alone.

#### 8.3.6. Inhibition of eNOS using L-Name

 $N_{\omega}$ -Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride (L-Name) is an analog of arginine that inhibits nitric oxide synthase. It affects the vascular system in various ways; it blocks relaxation induced by acetylcholine and induces an increase in arterial blood pressure. L-Name has been used as an eNOS inhibitor in various studies involving ECs (43), (93). L-Name was used at a concentration of 3 mM in our experiments and was shown to be effective. A range of L-Name concentrations is used in *in vitro* studies depending on the cell type and the nature of the experiment. The concentration used in our studies was approximately the same as that of other HUVEC studies (93), (128).

In the superoxide measurements using lucigenin-enhanced chemiluminescence, shown in **Figure 3** With L-Name there was still over a 2-fold increase in superoxide levels compared with the control cells, a value very close to Ang II stimulated cells. This result is consistent with previous studies (80), (129), (130). Because L-Name blocks eNOS, which produces NO, less NO is available within the cell. Thus, less NO is able to react with superoxide and the result is an increase in superoxide levels. In the monocyte adhesion assay, as seen in **Figure** 

5, L-Name effectively blocked the increase in monocyte adhesion to HUVEC monolayers compared to both Ang II and TNF- $\alpha$ -stimulated HUVECs, bringing the level of adhering monocytes down to below baseline control levels. Thus, L-Name's ability to block monocyte adhesion to HUVECs suggests the involvement of eNOS in Ang II-induced endothelial activation.

#### 8.4. Significance

Ang II has been shown to activate the endothelium and increase monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells, but a mechanism has not been established (39). The objective of this study was to determine the cellular mechanism involved in Ang II-induced endothelial cell activation (measured as monocyte adhesion) and moreover, to determine the roles of NAD(P)H oxidase-produced superoxide, Akt and eNOS in this mechanism. We found that Ang II signals through the AT1 receptor to stimulate superoxide production by NAD(P)H oxidase. As a result of this cascade, Akt and subsequently eNOS are activated. This leads to the production of NO. NO is proposed to react with the superoxide and produce the potent oxidant peroxynitrite which goes on to damage and activate the endothelium, making it more responsive to leukocyte adhesion.

A likely cause of increased monocyte adhesion is Ang II-induced up regulation of ICAM-1. Increased expression of ICAM-1 has been observed as a result of endothelial cell stimulation (62), (66), (108). Furthermore, numerous studies have linked increased ICAM-1 expression to Ang II stimulation in ECs (62). Although this link has been established, the specific pathways remain unclear.

We examined the specific molecular players in our proposed Ang II signaling mechanism using pharmacological inhibitors, viruses and siRNA in chemiluminescence and adhesion assays. In our adhesion assay, Cd illustrated the role of the AT1 receptor in Ang II signaling cascade in ECs. Previously conducted studies have shown that hydrogen peroxide (86), shear stress (20), and TNF- $\alpha$  (95), amongst other stimulants stimulate the Akt pathway which leads to eNOS

activation. These findings concur with our finding that Ang II is able to activate Akt and eNOS. We demonstrated the involvement of the PI3K-Akt cascade in Ang II-induced endothelial activation and dysfunction using Wm and Akt viruses in the adhesion assay. We also demonstrated the involvement of eNOS in Ang IIinduced endothelial activation and dysfunction using L-Name in chemiluminescence and adhesion assays. Moreover, we also showed that elevated superoxide levels resulting from Ang II stimulation were likely attributed to NAD(P)H oxidase activation by using the pharmacological inhibitor DPI in chemiluminescence assays and adhesion assay in addition to p22phox siRNA in the adhesion assay.

Together, our findings indicate that the simultaneous activation by Ang II of eNOS and NAD(P)H oxidase in endothelial cells leads to HUVEC activation. Our results help to explain the paradox of why Ang II-induced Akt activation and NO production harms rather than helps the endothelium. In our proposed mechanism it is the simultaneous production of NO from eNOS and superoxide from NAD(P)H oxidase that react to form peroxynitrite and ultimately lead to endothelial dysfunction and activation. Our findings suggest that blocking any one part of the pathway effectively inhibits Ang II-induced endothelial activation.

### 9. Final conclusions and summary

- Ang II (100 nM) produced a 1.9-fold increase in O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> production above control levels
  - increase was blocked by DPI
  - increase was not blocked by L-NAME
- Ang II increased monocyte adhesion to HUVEC by 4.5-fold
  this increase corresponded to 80% of the response induced by TNF-α
- Monocyte adhesion in response to Ang II was blocked by candesartan, DPI, L-Name, and wortmannin
- Adhesion after Ang II treatment was decreased by dominant negative-AKT and increased by 1.5-fold by the constitutively active-AKT compared to Ang II-stimulated GFP-transfected cells.
- Ang II-induced monocyte adhesion was inhibited a p22phox siRNA

Together, these findings indicate that the simultaneous activation by Ang II of eNOS and NAD(P)H oxidase in endothelial cells leads to increased HUVEC activation. This process can partly explain the beneficial effects of therapies that reduce the action of Ang II.

## **Figures and Legends**

## Figure 1. Proposed Ang II signaling pathway leading to endothelial cell activation

In endothelial cells, Angiotensin II binds and activates the AT1 receptor (34), (35). When Ang II binds the AT1 receptor, the subunits of a guanine-nucleotidebinding protein  $(G_{q/11})$  dissociate. This in turn activates phospholipase C, which generates diacylglycerol and inositol triphosphate (40). Inositol triphosphate mediates the release of intracellular calcium stores. Cellular calcium levels also rise due to Ang II-induced calcium entry through cell membrane channels (41). Calcium and diacylglycerol activation signal through kinases such as PKC and calcium-calmodulin kinases which go on to alter downstream proteins (42). Stimulation of the AT1 receptor by Ang II has been recently linked to activating NAD(P)H oxidase and thus producing ROS in vascular cells (16). In the scheme shown NAD(P)H oxidase is hypothesized to be the source of superoxide, which is then converted to  $H_2O_2$ . In VSMCs, Akt phosphorylation is inhibited by DPI, indicating a role for NAD(P)H oxidase in Akt activation (19). Our scheme proposes a similar mechanism in ECs. Ang II has been shown to increase levels of  $H_2O_2$ -derived from NAD(P)H oxidase, which then activates eNOS (86). Thus, as shown in the scheme, Ang II has the ability to simultaneously produce superoxide and nitric oxide and consequently the damaging product peroxynitrite. The link between Akt and eNOS activation has been established in studies involving VEGF (93), (21), shear stress (20), (94), and TNF- $\alpha$  (95) stimulation. We propose that Ang II triggers a similar Akt-eNOS signaling cascade in ECs. Ang II increases monocyte adhesion to ECs (60), and ACE inhibitor treatment in vivo decreases endothelial dysfunction and the subendothelial infiltration of mononuclear cells (59). The proposed mechanism attributes the increased monocyte adhesion to endothelial activation caused by peroxynitrite formation.

Figure 1



# Figure 2. Superoxide production measured using lucigenin-enhanced chemiluminescence: control vs. Angiotensin II-stimulated HUVECs

HUVECs grown to approximately 95% confluency in endothelial cell growth medium were stimulated with Ang II (100 nM) for 1 hour. Control cells and Ang II-stimulated cells were scraped thoroughly using Hepes Buffer. Hepes buffer was used to equalize the volume of all wells prior to superoxide readings. LMax II 384 luminometer using SoftMax Pro software was used to measure superoxide levels of each well. Lucigenin (10  $\mu$ M) and NAD(P)H (250  $\mu$ M) were injected into each well. The superoxide level was measured every 31 seconds for a period of 30 min. The background signal was subtracted from the total output and the area under the curve of output was calculated. Following superoxide measurements, cells from each sample were counted. Results were normalized to 1,000,000 cells/mL. Data represents 3 individual experiments. Data represents  $\pm$  SEM.

\* statistically significant difference (p<0.05) using the Student-Newman-Keuls comparison Method.

Figure 2



Ang II (100 nM)

### Figure 3. Superoxide production measured using lucigenin-enhanced chemiluminescence: effect of L-Name and DPI on Angiotensin IIstimulated HUVECs

HUVECs grown to approximately 95% confluency in endothelial cell growth medium were stimulated with Ang II (100 nM) for 1 hour. The following conditions were run: blank, control, Ang II, Ang II + DPI (5  $\mu$ M) and Ang II + L-Name (3 mM). The inhibitors were added following cell scraping into suspensions of Ang II stimulated cells. Cells were scraped thoroughly using Hepes Buffer. Hepes buffer was used to equalize the volume of all wells prior to superoxide readings. LMax II 384 luminometer using SoftMax Pro software was used to measure superoxide levels of each well. Lucigenin (10  $\mu$ M) and NAD(P)H (250  $\mu$ M) were injected into each well. The superoxide level was measured every 31 seconds for a period of 30 min. The background signal was subtracted from the total output and the area under the curve of output was calculated. Following superoxide measurements, cells from each sample were counted. Results were normalized to 1,000,000 cells/mL.

Data represents 3 individual experiments. Data represents  $\pm$  SEM.

\* statistically significant difference (p<0.05) using the Student-Newman-Keuls comparison Method.

Figure 3



.

#### Figure 4. Monocyte adhesion to HUVECs: control conditions

The monocyte adhesion assay was performed on passage 3 HUVECs grown using endothelial growth medium to approximately 95% confluency. The following conditions were used: Control (Stimulation media), Control (Ang II solvent,  $ddH_20$ ), positive control-TNF- $\alpha$  (10 ng/mL) and Ang II (100 nM).

Cells were incubated with Ang II or TNF- $\alpha$  for 6 hours using stimulation media. Following stimulation, 500,000 DiI-labeled U937 monocytic cells were added to each well. Monocytes were allowed to adhere to plated HUVECs for 30 min in 37°C on a rocking platform. After the initial 15 min of shaking, the plate was rotated 90° for the remainder of the shaking time. After removing the media and suspended monocytes, the wells were then washed three times, at room temperature, with PBS. Following the washes, cells were fixed for 30 min using 10% neutral buffered formalin, at room temperature. The formalin was then removed and cells were visualized. U937 adhesion was quantified in four fields per well (each condition was a triplicate) viewed under 10X magnification, with an automated image analysis system using an Olympus 1X70 inverted microscope and Image-Pro Plus software (version 4.5.0.29).

Data represents 3 individual experiments. Data represents  $\pm$  SEM.

\* statistically significant difference (p<0.05) using the Student-Newman-Keuls comparison Method.

\*\* p<0.001

71
Figure 4



\*\*

# Figure 5. Monocyte adhesion to HUVECs: effect of candesartan, DPI wortmannin, and L-Name

The monocyte adhesion assay was performed on passage 3 HUVECs grown using endothelial growth medium to approximately 95% confluency. The following conditions were used: Control (Stimulation media), Control (Ang II solvent, ddH<sub>2</sub>0), positive control-TNF- $\alpha$  (10 ng/mL), Ang II (100 nM), Ang II + DPI (5  $\mu$ M), Ang II + Wortmannin (100 nM), Ang II + L-Name (3 mM), Ang II + Candesartan (10  $\mu$ M).

Cells were incubated with inhibitors for 1 hour prior to 6 hour stimulation with Ang II or TNF- $\alpha$  in stimulation media. Following stimulation, 500,000 DiIlabeled U937 monocytic cells were added to each well. Monocytes were allowed to adhere to plated HUVECs for 30 min in 37°C on a rocking platform. After the initial 15 min of shaking, the plate was rotated 90° for the remainder of the shaking time. After removing the media and suspended monocytes, the wells were then washed three times, at room temperature, with PBS. Following the washes, cells were fixed for 30 min using 10% neutral buffered formalin, at room temperature. The formalin was then removed and cells were visualized. U937 adhesion was quantified in four fields per well (triplicate per condition) viewed under 10X magnification, with an automated image analysis system using an Olympus 1X70 inverted microscope and Image-Pro Plus software (version 4.5.0.29).

Data represents 3 individual experiments. Data represents  $\pm$  SEM.

\* statistically significant difference (p<0.001) using the Student-Newman-Keuls comparison Method.

\*\* p<0.05

Figure 5



- -

#### Figure 6. Monocyte adhesion to HUVECs: effect of Akt viruses

Akt viruses were used to examine the role of Akt in monocyte adhesion. At approximately 70% confluency, cells were transfected with viruses for 4 hours using serum deprived media (MCDB 131 + 1% L-Glutamine). Gfp virus, Ad5-CMV-eGFP ( $1.3x10^{12}$  particles/mL,  $4x10^{10}$  titer pfu/mL) was used as a positive control to indicate transfection efficiency. Dominant negative (dn) Akt virus (Ad5-CMV-Akt-AAA) ( $1.3x10^{12}$  particles/mL,  $1x10^{10}$  titer pfu/mL) and a constitutively active (ca) Akt virus (Ad5-CMV-myrAkt) ( $1.1x10^{12}$  particles/mL,  $2x10^{10}$  titer pfu/mL). The viruses were used at a dose of 50 molecule of infection (MOI=PFU/mL). Following the transfection, cells were washed three times with PBS, supplied with growth media and grown to confluency before performing the adhesion assay.

The following conditions were used: GFP, GFP + Ang II (100 nM), dn-Akt, dn-Akt + Ang II, ca-Akt, ca-Akt + Ang II. Cells were stimulated with Ang II for 6 hours using stimulation media. Following stimulation, 500,000 DiI-labeled U937 monocytic cells were added to each well. Monocytes were allowed to adhere to plated HUVECs for 30 min in  $37^{\circ}$ C on a rocking platform. After the initial 15 min of shaking, the plate was rotated 90° for the remainder of the shaking time. After removing the media and monocytes, the wells were washed three times with PBS. Following the washes, cells were fixed for 30 min using 10% neutral buffered formalin. The formalin was then removed and cells were visualized. U937 adhesion was quantified in four fields per well (triplicate per condition) viewed under 10X magnification, with an automated image analysis system using an Olympus 1X70 inverted microscope and Image-Pro Plus software (version 4.5.0.29). Data represents 3 individual experiments. Data represents  $\pm$  SEM.

\* statistically significant difference (p<0.001) using the Student-Newman-Keuls comparison Method.

\*\* p<0.05

75

Figure 6



#### Figure 7. Monocyte adhesion to HUVECs: effect of p22phox siRNA

In order to examine the effect of NAD(P)H oxidase on monocyte adhesion to HUVECs following Ang II stimulation, siRNA against the p22phox subunit was used. HUVECs were grown to approximately 70% confluency and transfected with scrambled and p22phox siRNA. siRNA was mixed with HiPerfect reagent and serum-free media and allowed to form complexes for 10 min at room temperature. Scrambled siRNA was used at a concentration of 10 nM and p22 siRNA at 1.4  $\mu$ , and 0.78  $\mu$ L/well of HiPerfect solution was used. Following the room temperature incubation, the mix of each siRNA was added drop wise to each well (50  $\mu$ L/well). Plates were tilted to ensure even mixing and incubated at 37°C for 5 hours. Following incubation, cells were washed twice with PBS and EC growth media was added back to HUVECs. Cells were then grown to full confluency and 3 days later, the monocyte adhesion assay was performed.

The following conditions were used: GFP, GFP + Ang II (100 nM), dn-Akt, dn-Akt + Ang II, ca-Akt, ca-Akt + Ang II. Cells were stimulated with Ang II for 6 hours using stimulation media. Following stimulation, 500,000 DiI-labeled U937 monocytic cells were added to each well. Monocytes were allowed to adhere to plated HUVECs for 30 min in  $37^{\circ}$ C on a rocking platform. After the initial 15 min of shaking, the plate was rotated 90° for the remainder of the shaking time. After removing the media and monocytes, the wells were washed three times with PBS. Following the washes, cells were fixed for 30 min using 10% neutral buffered formalin. The formalin was then removed and cells were visualized. U937 adhesion was quantified in four fields per well (triplicate per condition) viewed under 10X magnification, with an automated image analysis system using an Olympus 1X70 inverted microscope and Image-Pro Plus software (version 4.5.0.29). Data represents 3 individual experiments. Data represents  $\pm$  SEM.

\* statistically significant difference (p<0.001) using the Student-Newman-Keuls comparison Method. \*\* p<0.05

Figure 7



## Appendix A Future directions

Although our findings contributed to the understanding of Ang II-induced endothelial activation, there is the possibility of the involvement of other molecular players such as ICAM-1 that, due to time constraints were not assessed. There are various possibilities for future studies, including ICAM-1 and superoxide studies. Confirming the result of previous studies of an increase in protein expression of ICAM-1 following Ang II exposure, for the time period studied would be useful. Another possible useful variation of the monocyte adhesion assay is to study the effect of blocking ICAM-1 (via antibodies) on adhesion. Studying the interaction between superoxide produced by NAD(P)H oxidase and ICAM-1 could provide further evidence for the proposed mechanism. Studying the role of NAD(P)H oxidase on adhesion may also be done using p47phox -/- mice, as p47phox is a crucial NAD(P)H oxidase subunit. Understanding signaling pathways of other stimulants such as TNF- $\alpha$  in endothelial cells is helpful in trying to piece together Ang II's signaling mechanism. Another possible study that focuses on understanding the role of PKC<sup>2</sup> activation in Ang II-induced ICAM-1 clustering and endothelial adhesivity towards leukocytes, as this kinase and ICAM-1 are involved in TNF- $\alpha$  signaling (67), (66). In order to confirm our findings, NO production in response to Ang II stimulation may be measured using a Greiss reaction and luminal-enhanced chemiluminescence may be used to measure peroxynitrite formation.

## Appendix B Claims to original research

I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and that to the best of my knowledge and belief, it contains no material previously published or written by another person nor material which to substantial extent has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma of McGill university or any other institute of higher learning, except where acknowledgements have been made in the text.

Copyright by Zainab Al-Dhaher 2007 All Rights Reserved.

### **Reference** List

- (1) Statistics Canada, Government of Canada. Causes of Death 2002.
- (2) Public Health Agency of Canada, Government of Canada. Economic Burden of Illness in Canada, 1998.
- (3) Bonow RO, Smaha LA, Smith SC Jr, Mensah GA, Lenfant C. World Heart Day 2002: the international burden of cardiovascular disease: responding to the emerging global epidemic. Circulation 106, 1602-1605. 2002.
- (4) Lusis AJ. Atherosclerosis. Nature 407, 233-241. 14-9-2000.
- (5) Drexler H, Hornig B. Endothelial dysfunction in human disease. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology 31, 51-60. 1999.
- (6) Félétou M, Vanhoutte PM. Endothelial dysfunction: a multifaceted disorder. American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatory Physiology 2006 Apr 21;291:H985-H1002.
- (7) Timmermans PB, Wong PC, Chiu AT, Herblin WF, Benfield P, Carini DJ, et al. Angiotensin II receptors and angiotensin II receptor antagonists. Pharmacological Reviews 45[2], 205-251. 1993.
- (8) Nickenig G, Harrison DG. The AT<sub>1</sub>-Type Angiotensin Receptor in Oxidative Stress and Atherogenesis, Part I: Oxidative Stress and Atherogenesis. Circulation 105[393], 396. 2002.
- (9) Mancini GBJ, Hentry GC, Macaya C, O'Neill BJ, Pucillo AL, Carere RG, et al. Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibition With Quinapril Improves Endothelial Vasomotor Dysfunction in patients with coronary artery disease: The TREND (Trial on Reversing Endothelial Dysfunction) Study. Circulation 94[3], 258-265. 1996.
- (10) Anderson TJ, Elstein E, Haber H, Charbonneau F. Comparative study of ACE-inhibition, angiotensin II antagonism, and calcium channel blockade on flow-mediated vasodilation in patients with coronary disease (BANFF study). Journal of the American College of Cardiology 35[1], 60-66. 2000.
- (11) The Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation (HOPE) Study Investigators. Effects of an angiotensin converting-enzyme inhibitor, Ramipril, on cardiovascular events in high risk patients. New England Journal of Medicine 342, 145-153. 2000.

- (12) Pueyo ME, Gonzalez W, Nicoletti A, Savoie F, Arnal JF, Michel JB. Angiotensin II stimulates endothelial vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 via nuclear factor-kB activation induced by intracellular oxidative stress. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology 20, 645-651. 2000.
- (13) Cai H, Harrison DG. Endothelial Dysfunction in Cardiovascular Diseases: The role of oxidant stress. Circulation Research 2000; 87:840-4.
- (14) Coyle CH, Martinez LJ, Coleman MC, Spitz DR, Weintraub NL, Kader KN. Mechanisms of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced oxidative stress in endothelial cells. Free Radical Biology & Medicine 40, 2206-2213. 2006.
- (15) Seshiah PN, Weber DS, Rocic P, Valppu L, Taniyama Y, Griendling KK. Angiotensin II stimulation of NAD(P)H oxidase activity: upstream mediators. Circulation Research 91, 406-413. 2002.
- (16) Griendling KK, Minieri CA, Ollerenshaw JD, Alexander RW. Angiotensin II stimulates NADH and NADPH oxidase activity in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. Circulation Research 74[6], 1141-1148. 1994.
- (17) Cai H, Griendling KK, Harrison DG. The vascular NAD(P)H oxidases as therapeutic targets in cardiovascular diseases. TRENDS in Pharmacological Sciences 24[9]. 2003.
- (18) Cai H, Li Z, Dikalov S, Holland SM, Hwang J, Jo H, et al. NAD(P)H Oxidase-derived Hydrogen Peroxide Mediates Endothelial Nitric Oxide Production in Response to Angiotensin II. Journal of biological chemistry 277[50], 48311-48317. 2002.
- (19) Ushio-Fukai M, Alexander RW, Akers M, Yin Q, Fujio Y, Walsh K, et al. Reactive Oxygen Species Mediate the Activation of Akt/Protein Kinase B by Angiotensin II in vascular Smooth Muscle Cells. Journal of biological chemistry 274[32], 22699-22704. 8-6-1999.
- (20) Dimmeler S, Fleming I, Fisslthaler B, Hermann C, Busse R, Zeiher AM. Activation of nitric oxide synthase in endothelial cells by Akt-dependent phosphorylation. Nature 399, 601-605. 10-6-1999.
- (21) Fulton D, Gratton JP, McCabe TJ, Fontana J, Fujio Y, Walsh K, et al. Regulation of endothelium-derived nitric oxide production by the protein kinase Akt. Nature 399[6736], 597-601. 1999.
- (22) Campbell DJ. Circulating and tissue angiotensin systems. Journal of Clinical Investigation 79, 1-6. 1987.
- (23) Gibbons GH, Dzau VJ. The emerging concept of vascular remodeling. New England Journal of Medicine 19, 1431-1438. 1994.

- (24) Padmanabhan N, Jardine AG, McGrath JC, Connell JMC. Angiotensinconverting enzyme-independent contraction to angiotensin I in human resistance arteries. Circulation 99[22], 2914-2920. 1999.
- (25) Bader M, Peters J, Baltatu O, Müller DN, Luft FC. Tissue renin-angiotensin systems: new insights from experimental animal models in hypertension research. Journal of Molecular Medicine 79, 76-102. 2001.
- (26) Shimizu A, Yamagata T, Tatsuno H, Esato M, Ueyama T, Hayano T, et al. Radiofrequency catheter ablation therapy in elderly patients with supraventricular tachycardia. Nippon Ronen Igakkai Zasshi 35[6], 451-457. 1998.
- (27) Stroth U, Unger T. The Renin-Angiotensin system and its receptors. Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology 33[1], S21-S28. 1999.
- (28) O'Keefe JH, Wetzel M, Moe RR, Brosnahan K, Lavie CJ. Should an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor be standard therapy for patients with artherosclerotic disease? Journal of the American College of Cardiology 37[1], 1-8. 2001.
- (29) Goodfriend TL, Elliott ME, Catt KJ. Angiotensin Receptors and their Antagonists. Drug Therapy 334[25], 1649-1654. 2007.
- (30) Abhold RH, Sullivan MJ, Wright JM, Harding JW. Binding, degradation and pressor activity of angiotensin II and III after amino peptidase inhibition with amastatin and bestatin. Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics 242, 957-962. 1987.
- (31) Ruiz-Ortega M, Lorenzo O, Rupérez M, Esteban V, Suzuki Y, Mezzano S, et al. Role of the Renin-Angiotensin System in Vascular Diseases Expanding the Field. Hypertension 38, 1382-1387. 2001.
- (32) Santos RA, Simoes e Silva AC, Maric C, Silva DM, Machado RP, de Buhr I, et al. Angiotensin-(1-7) is an endogenous ligand for the G proteincoupled receptor Mas. PNAS 100[14], 8258-8263. 7-8-2003.
- (33) Santos RA, Campagnole-Santos MJ, Andrade SP. Angiotensin-(1-7): an update. Regulatory Peptides 91[1-3], 45-62. 28-7-2000.
- (34) Pueyo ME, Michel JB. Angiotensin II Receptors in Endothelial Cells. General Pharmacology 29[5], 691-696. 1997.
- (35) Dinh DT, Frauman AG, Johnston CI, Fabiani ME. Angiotensin receptors: distribution, signaling and function. Clinical Science (Lond) 100, 481-492. 2001.

- (36) Unger T. The angiotensin type 2 receptor: variations on an enigmatic theme. Journal of Hypertension 17, 1775-1786. 1999.
- (37) Mehta PK, Griendling KK. Angiotensin II cell signaling: physiological and pathological effects in the cardiovascular system. American Journal of Physiology Cell Physiology 292, C82-C97. 2007.
- (38) Laragh JH. Renin system understanding for analysis and treatment of hypertensive patients: a means to quantify the vasoconstrictor elements, diagnose curable renal and adrenal causes, assess risk of cardiovascular morbidity and find the best fit drug regimen. In: Laragh JH, Brenner BM, editors. Hypertension: Pathophysiology, Diagnosis and Management.New York, NY: Raven Press; 1995. p. 1813-35.
- (39) Kim JA, Berliner JA, Nadler JL. Angiotensin II Increases Monocyte Binding to Endothelial Cells. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 226, 862-868. 1996.
- (40) Catt KJ, Sandberg K, Balla T. Angiotensin II receptor and signal transduction mechanisms. In: Raizada MK, Philips MI, Sumners C, eds. Cellular and molecular biology of the renin-angiotensin system.Boca Raton, Fla: CRC Press; 1993. p. 307-56.
- (41) Spat A, Enyedi P, Hajnoczky G, Hunyady L. Generation and role of calcium signal in adrenal glomerulosa cells. Experimental Physiology 76[859], 885. 1991.
- (42) Tsuda T, Griendling KK, Ollerenshaw JD, Lassegue B, Alexander RW. Angiotensin-II-and endothelin-induced protein phosphorylation in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. Journal of Vascular Research 30[5], 241-249. 1993.
- (43) Pueyo ME, Arnal JF, Rami J, Michel JB. Angiotensin II stimulates the production of NO and peroxynitrite in endothelial cells. American Journal of Physiology 274, C214-C220. 1998.
- (44) Chen L, McNeill R, Wilson TW, Gopalakrishnan V. Heterogeneity in vascular smooth muscle responsiveness to angiotensin II. Hypertension 26, 83-88. 1995.
- (45) Tedgui A, Mallat Z. Cytokines in Atherosclerosis: Pathogenic and Regulatory Pathways. Physiological Reviews 86, 515-581. 2006.
- (46) Cheng ZJ, Vapaatalo H, Mervaala E. Angiotensin II and vascular inflammation. Medical Science Monitor 11[6], RA194-RA205. 2005.

- (47) Suzuki Y, Ruiz-Ortega M, Lorenzo O, Ruperez M, Esteban V, Egido J. Inflammation and angiotensin II. International journal of biochemistry & cell biology 35[6], 881-900. 2003.
- (48) Victorino GP, Newton CR, Curran B. Effect of angiotensin II on microvascular permeability. Journal of surgical research 104, 77-81. 2002.
- (49) Jones SA, O'Donnell VB, Wood JD, Broughton JP, Hughes EJ, Jones OTG. Expression of phagocyte NADPH oxidase components in human endothelial cells. American Journal of Physiology 271, H1626-H1634. 1996.
- (50) Wassmann S, Laufs U, Baumer AT, Muller K, Konkol C, Sauer H, et al. Inhibition of geranylgeranylation reduces angiotensin II-mediated free radical production in vascular smooth muscle cells: involvement of angiotensin AT1 receptor expression and Rac1 GTPase. Molecular Pharmacology 59[3], 646-654. 2001.
- (51) Tomasian D, Keaney JF, Vita JA. Antioxidants and the bioactivity of endothelium-derived nitric oxide. Cardiovascular Research 47, 426-435. 2000.
- (52) Vanhoutte PM, Scott-Burden T. The Endothelium in Health and Disease. Texas Heart Institute Journal 1994;21:62-7.
- (53) Badimon JJ, Fuster V, Chesebro JH, Badimon L. Coronary atherosclerosis: a multifactorial disease. Circulation 87[Suppl II], II-3-II-16. 1993.
- (54) Furchgott RF, Zawadzki JV. The obligatory role of the endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. Nature 1980;288:373-6.
- (55) Gimbrone MA Jr. Vascular Endothelium: An integrator of pathophysiologic stimuli in atherosclerosis. American Journal of Cardiology 1995;75:67B-70B.
- (56) Ross R. The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990's. Nature 362, 801-809. 1993.
- (57) Nickenig G, Baumer AT, Temur Y, Kebben D, Jockenhovel F, Bohm M. Statin-sensitive dysregulated AT1 receptor function and density in hypercholesterolemic men. Circulation 100[21], 2131-2134. 23-11-1999.
- (58) Prasad A, Tupas-Habib T, Schenke WH, Mincemoyer R, Panza JA, Waclawin MA, et al. Acute and chronic angiotensin-1 receptor antagonism reverses endothelial dysfunction in atherosclerosis. Circulation 101[20], 2349-2354. 23-5-2000.

- (59) Clozel M, Kuhn H, Hefti F, Baumgartner HR. Endothelial dysfunction and subendothelial monocyte macrophages in hypertension: effect of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition. Hypertension 18, 132-141. 1991.
- (60) Hahn AWA, Jonas U, Bühler FR, Resink TJ. Activation of human peripheral monocytes by angiotensin II. FEBS Letters 347, 178-180. 1994.
- (61) Jang Y, Lincoff M, Plow EF, Topol EJ. Cell adhesion molecules in coronary artery disease. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 24, 1591-1601. 1994.
- (62) Pastore L, Tessitore A, Martinotti S, Toniato E, Alesse E, Bravi MC, et al. Angiotensin II Stimulates Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 (ICAM-1) Expression by Human Vascular Endothelial Cells and Increases Soluble ICAM-1 Release In Vivo. Circulation 100, 1646-1652. 1999.
- (63) Hou J, Baichwal V, Cao Z. Regulatory elements and transcription factors controlling basal and cytokine-induced expression of gene encoding ICAM-1. PNAS 91, 11641-11645. 1994.
- (64) Ledebur HC, Parks TP. Transcriptional regulation of the intercellular adhesion molecule-1 gene by inflammatory cytokines in human endothelial cells. Essential roles of a variant NF-kappa B site and p65 homodimers. Journal of biological chemistry 270[2], 933-943. 13-1-1995.
- (65) Costanzo A, Moretti F, Burgio VL, Bravi C, Guido F, Levrero M, et al. Endothelial activation by angiotensin II through NFkB and p38 pathways: involvement of NFkB-inducible kinase (NIK), free oxygen radicals, and selective inhibition by aspirin. Journal of Cellular Physiology 195, 402-410. 2003.
- (66) Rahman A, Anwar KN, Malik AB. Protein kinase C-ζ mediates TNF-αinduced ICAM-1 gene transcription in endothelial cells. American Journal of Physiology Cell Physiology 279, C906-C914. 2000.
- (67) Javaid K, Rahman A, Anwar KN, Frey RS, Minshall RD, Malik AB. Tumor necrosis factor-α induces early-onset endothelial adhesivity by Protein kinase C- ζ-dependent activation of intracellular adhesion molecule-1. Circulation Research 92, 1089-1097. 2003.
- (68) Fan J, Frey RS, Rahman A, Malik AB. Role of neutrophil NADPH oxidase in the mechanism of tumor necrosis factor-α-induced NF-kB activation and intracellular adhesion molecule-1 expression in endothelial cells. Journal of biological chemistry 277[5, Feb.1], 3404-3411. 2002.

- (69) Babior BM. The respiratory burst oxidase. Current opinion in hematology 2, 55-60. 1995.
- (70) Harrison DG. Endothelial function and oxidant stress. Clinical Cardiology 20[suppl II], 11-17. 1997.
- (71) Griendling KK, Sorescu D, Ushio-Fukai M. NAD(P)H Oxidase- Role in Cardiovascular Biology and Disease. Circulation Research , 494-501. 17-3-2000.
- (72) Magder S, Neculcea J, Neculcea V, Sladek R. Lipopolysaccharide and TNFalpha produce very similar changes in gene expression in human endothelial cells. Journal of Vascular Research 43[5], 447-461. 2006.
- (73) Marui N, Offermann MK, Swerlick R, Kunsch C, Rosen CA, Ahmad M, et al. Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) gene transcription and expression are regulated through an antioxidant-sensitive mechanism in human vascular endothelial cells. Journal of Clinical Investigation 92, 1866-1874. 1993.
- (74) Miura H, Bosnjak JJ, Ning G, Saito T, Miura M, Gutterman DD. Role for hydrogen peroxide in flow-induced dilation of human coronary arterioles. Circulation Research 92, e31-e40. 2003.
- (75) Gryglewski RJ, Palmer RM, Moncada S. Superoxide anion is involved in the breakdown of endothelium-derived vascular relaxing factor. Nature 320, 454-456. 1986.
- (76) Britten MB, Zeiher AM, Schachinger V. Clinical importance of coronary endothelial vasodilator dysfunction and therapeutic options. Journal of Internal Medicine 245[4], 315-327. 1999.
- (77) Pryor WA, Squadrito GL. The chemistry of peroxynitrite: a product from the reaction of nitric oxide with superoxide. American Journal of Physiology 268[5 Pt 1], L699-L722. 1995.
- (78) Groemping Y, Lapouge K, Smerdon SJ, Rittinger K. Molecular basis of phosphorylation-induced activation of the NADPH oxidase. Cell 113, 343-355. 2003.
- (79) Li JM, Shah AM. Mechanism of Endothelial Cell NADPH oxidase activation by angiotensin II- Role of the p47phox subunit. Journal of biological chemistry 278[14], 12094-12100. 2003.
- (80) Li JM, Shah AM. Differential NADPH- versus NADH-dependent superoxide production by phagocyte-type endothelial cell NADPH oxidase. Cardiovascular Research 52[3], 477-486. 2001.

- (81) Suh YA, Arnold RS, Lassegue B, Shi J, Xu X, Sorescu D, et al. Cell transformation by the superoxide-generating oxidase Mox1. Nature 401[6748], 79-82. 2-9-1999.
- (82) Banfi B, Maturana A, Jaconi S, Arnaudeau S, Laforge T, Sinha B, et al. A Ca(2+)-activated NADPH oxidase in testis, spleen, and lymph nodes. Journal of biological chemistry 276, 37594-37601. 2001.
- (83) Lassegue B, Sorescu D, Szocs K, Yin Q, Akers M, Zhang Y, et al. Novel gp91(phox) homologues in vascular smooth muscle cells : nox1 mediates angiotensin II-induced superoxide formation and redoxsensitive signaling pathways. Circulation Research 88, 888-894. 2001.
- (84) Touyz RM, Yao G, Schiffrin EL. c-Src induces phosphorylation and translocation of p47phox. Role in superoxide generation by angiotensin II in human vascular smooth muscle cells. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology 23, 981-987. 2003.
- (85) Mollnau H, Wendt M, Szöcs K, Lassègue B, Schulz E, Oelze M, et al. Effects of Angiotensin II Infusion on the expression and function of NAD(P)H oxidase and components of the nitric oxide/cGMP signaling. Circulation Research 90, e58-e65. 2002.
- (86) Cai H, Li Z, Davis ME, Kanner W, Harrison DG, Dudley SC Jr. Aktdependent phosphorylation of Serine 1179 and mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 cooperatively mediate activation of the endothelial nitric-oxide synthase by hydrogen peroxide. Molecular Pharmacology 63, 325-331. 2003.
- (87) Warnholtz A, Nickenig G, Schultz E, Macharzina R, Brasen JH, Skatchkov M, et al. Increased NADH-oxidase-mediated superoxide production in the early stages of atherosclerosis. Circulation 99, 2027-2033. 1999.
- (88) Wang HD, Xu S, Johns DG, Du Y, Quinn MT, Cayatte AJ, et al. Role of NADPH oxidase in the vascular hypertrophic and oxidative stress response to angiotensin II in mice. Circulation Research 88, 947-953. 2001.
- (89) Shiojima I, Walsh K. Role of Akt signaling in vascular homeostasis and angiogenesis. Circulation Research 90[12], 1243-1250. 28-6-2002.
- (90) Dugourd C, Gervais M, Corvol P, Monnot C. Akt Is a Major Downstream Target of PI3-Kinase Involved in Angiotensin II-Induced Proliferation. Hypertension 41[882]. 2003.
- (91) Coffer PJ, Woodgett JR. Molecular cloning and characterisation of a novel putative protein-serine kinase related to the cAMP-dependent and

protein kinase C families. European Journal of Biochemistry 201, 475-481. 1991.

- (92) Andjelkovic M, Alessi DR, Meier R, Fernandez A, Lamb NJ, Frech M, et al. Role of Translocation in the Activation and Function of Protein Kinase
  B. Journal of biological chemistry 272[50], 31515-31524. 12-12-1997.
- (93) Papapetropoulos A, Garcia-Cardena G, Madri JA, Sessa WC. Nitric oxide production contributes to the angiogenic properties of vascular endothelial growth factor in human endothelial cells. Journal of Clinical Investigation 100, 3131-3139. 1997.
- (94) Jin ZG, Wong C, Wu J, Berk BC. Flow shear stress stimulates Gab1 tyrosine phosphorylation to mediate protein kinase B and endothelial nitric-oxide synthase activation in endothelial cells. Journal of biological chemistry 280[13], 12305-12309. 2005.
- (95) Barsacchi R, Perrotta C, Bulotta S, Moncada S, Borgese N, Clementi E. Activation of Endothelial Nitric-Oxide Synthase by Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha: A Novel Pathway Involving Sequential Activation of Neutral Sphingomyelinase, Phosphatidylinositol-3' kinase, and Akt. Molecular Pharmacology 63[4], 886-895. 2003.
- (96) Beckman JS, Koppenol WH. Nitric oxide, superoxide, and peroxynitrite: The good, the bad, and the ugly. American Journal of Physiology 271, C1424-C1437. 1996.
- (97) Saito S, Hirata Y, Emori T, Imai T, Marumo F. Angiotensin II activates endothelial constitutive nitric oxide synthase via AT1 receptors. Hypertension Research 19, 201-206. 1996.
- (98) Dubey RK. Vasodilator-derived nitric oxide inhibits fetal calf serum- and angiotensin-II-induced growth of renal arteriolar smooth muscle cells. Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics 269, 402-408. 1993.
- (99) Cahill PA, Redmond EM, Foster C, Sitzmann JV. Nitric oxide regulates angiotensin II receptors in vascular smooth muscle cells. European Journal of Pharmacology 288[2], 219-229. 16-1-1995.
- (100) Wattanapitayakul SK, Weinstein DM, Holycross BJ, Bauer JA. Endothelial dysfunction and peroxynitrite formation are early events in angiotensininduced cardiovascular disorders. FASEB J. 14, 271-278. 2000.
- (101) Lin KT, Xue JY, Nomen M, Spur B, Wong PYK. Peroxynitrite-induced apoptosis in HL-60 cells. Journal of biological chemistry 270, 16487-16490. 1995.

- (102) Moro MA, Darley-Usmar V, Goodwin D, Read N, Zamora-Pino R, Feelisch M, et al. Paradoxical fate and biological action of peroxynitrite on human platelets. PNAS 91, 6702-6706. 1994.
- (103) Lonn EM, Yusuf S, Jha P, Montague TJ, Teo KK, Benedict CR, et al. Emerging role of the angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors in cardiac and vascular protection. Circulation 90[4], 2056-2069. 1994.
- (104) Johnston CI. Tissue Angiotensin Converting Enzyme in Cardiac and Vascular Hypertrophy, Repair, and Remodeling. Hypertension 23[2], 258-268. 1994.
- (105) Fiedler U, Reiss Y, Scharpfenecker M, Grunow V, Koidl S, Thurston G, et al. Angiopoietin-2 sensitizes endothelial cells to TNF-alpha and has a crucial role in the induction of inflammation. Nature Medicine 12[2], 235-239. 2006.
- (106) Orpana A, Ranta V, Mikkola T, Viinikka L, Ylikorkala O. Inducible nitric oxide and prostacyclin productions are differently controlled by extracellular matrix and cell density in human vascular endothelial cells. Journal of biological chemistry 64[4], 538-546. 1997.
- (107) Florian M, Lu Y, Angle M, Magder S. Estrogen induced changes in Aktdependent activation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase and vasodilation. Steroids 69[10], 637-645. 2004.
- (108) Apostolov EO, Shah SV, Ok E, Basnakian AG. Carbamylated Low-Density Lipoprotein Induces Monocyte Adhesion to Endothelial Cells Through Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 and Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology 27[82]. 2007.
- (109) Weber C, Erl W, Pietsch A, Weber PC. Aspirin Inhibits Nuclear Factor-kB Mobilization and Monocyte Adhesion in Stimulated Human Endothelial Cells. Circulation 91, 1914-1917. 1995.
- (110) Springer TA. Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration: the multistep paradigm. Cell 76, 301-314. 1994.
- (111) Sasseville V, Newman W, Lackner A, Smith M, Lausen N, Hesterberg P, et al. VCAM-1 is induced and mediates monocyte adhesion to endothelium in SIV encephalitis. Journal of medical primatology 21. 1992.
- (112) Joshi MB, Philippova M, Ivanov D, Allenspach R, Erne P, Resink TJ. Tcadherin protects endothelial cells from oxidative stress-induced apoptosis. FASEB J. 19, 1737-1739. 2005.

- (113) Afanas'ev IB, Ostrakhovitch EA, Mikhal'chik EV, Korkina LG. Direct enzymatic reduction of lucigenin decreases lucigenin-amplified chemiluminescence produced by superoxide ion. Luminescence 16, 305-307. 2001.
- (114) Li Y, Zhu H, Kuppusamy P, Roubaud V, Zweier JL, Trush MA. Validation of Lucigenin (Bis-*N*-methylacridinium) as a Chemilumigenic Probe for Detecting Superoxide Anion Radical Production by Enzymatic and Cellular Systems. Journal of biological chemistry 273[4], 2015-2023. 23-1-1998.
- (115) Burnier M. Angiotensin II type 1 receptor blockers. Circulation 103[904]. 2001.
- (116) Desideri G, Bravi MC, Tucci M, Croce G, Marinucci MC, Santucci A, et al. Angiotensin II Inhibits Endothelial Cell Motility Through an AT1-Dependent Oxidant-Sensitive Decrement of Nitric Oxide Availability. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology 23[1218]. 2003.
- (117) Rueckschloss U, Quinn MT, Holtz J, Morawietz H. Dose-Dependent Regulation of NAD(P)H Oxidase Expression by Angiotensin II in Human Endothelial Cells. Protective Effect of Angiotensin II Type 1 Receptor Blockade in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology 22[1845]. 2002.
- (118) O'Donnell VB, Tew DG, Jones OT, England PJ. Studies on the Inhibitory Mechanism of Iodonium Compounds with Special Reference to Neutrophil NADPH Oxidase. Biochemical Journal 290[1], 41-49. 1993.
- (119) Rueckschloss U, Galle J, Holtz J, Zerkowski HR, Morawietz H. Induction of NAD(P)H Oxidase by Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein in Human Endothelial Cells. Circulation 104[1767]. 2001.
- (120) Krötz F, Keller M, Derflinger S, Schmid H, Gloe T, Bassermann F, et al. Mycophenolate Acid Inhibits Endothelial NAD(P)H Oxidase Activity and Superoxide Formation by a Rac1-Dependent Mechanism. Hypertension 49[201]. 2007.
- (121) Ushio-Fukai M, Zafari AM, Fukui T, Ishizaka N, Griendling KK. p22phox is a critical component of the superoxide-generating NADH/NADPH oxidase system and regulates angiotensin II-induced hypertrophy in vascular smooth muscle cells. Journal of biological chemistry 271, 23317-23321. 1996.
- (122) Al Ghouleh I, Neculcea J, Magder S. Role of NAD(P)H Oxidase in NADPH Induced Lucigenin-Enhanced Chemiluminescence in Endothelial Cells. FASEB J. 18[5], A1000. 2004.

- (123) Nakanishi S, Kakita S, Takahashi I, Kawhara K, Tsukuda E, Sano T, et al. Wortmannin, a microbial product inhibitor of myosin light chain kinase. Journal of biological chemistry 267, 2157-2163. 1992.
- (124) Dimmeler S, Dernbach E, Zeiher AM. Phosphorylation of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase at ser-1177 is required for VEGF-induced endothelial cell migration. FEBS Letters 477[3], 258-262. 2000.
- (125) Fujio Y, Walsh K. Akt mediates cytoprotection of endothelial cells by vascular endothelial growth factor in an anchorage-dependent manner. Journal of biological chemistry 274, 16349-16354. 1999.
- (126) Harfouche R, Malak NA, Brandes RP, Karsan A, Irani K, Hussain SN. Roles of reactive oxygen species in angiopoietin-1/tie-2 receptor signaling. FASEB J. 19[12], 1728-1730. 19-10-2005.
- (127) Harfouche R, Gratton JP, Yancopoulos GD, Noseda M, Karsan A, Hussain SN. Angiopoietin-1 activates both anti- and proapoptotic mitogenactivated protein kinases. FASEB J. 17[11], 1523-1525. 2003.
- (128) Cokic VP, Beleslin-Cokic BB, Tomic M, Stojilkovic SS, Noguchi CT, Schechter AN. Hydroxyurea induces the eNOS-cGMP pathway in endothelial cells. Blood 108, 184-191. 2006.
- (129) Bauersachs J, Bouloumié A, Fraccarollo D, Hu K, Busse R, Ertl G. Hydralazine prevents endothelial dysfunction, but not the increase in superoxide production in nitric oxide-deficient hypertension. European Journal of Pharmacology 362[1], 77-81. 27-11-1998.
- (130) Guzik TJ, Mussa S, Gastaldi D, Sadowski J, Ratnatunga C, Pillai R, et al. Mechanisms of Increased Vascular Superoxide Production in Human Diabetes Mellitus. Role of NAD(P)H Oxidase and Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase. Circulation 105[1656]. 2002.